

University of Alabama at Birmingham UAB Digital Commons

All ETDs from UAB

UAB Theses & Dissertations

2016

Cultural and Gender Differences in Child Abuse Risk in African American and White Expectant Mothers and Fathers

Anjali Gowda University of Alabama at Birmingham

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.library.uab.edu/etd-collection

Recommended Citation

Gowda, Anjali, "Cultural and Gender Differences in Child Abuse Risk in African American and White Expectant Mothers and Fathers" (2016). *All ETDs from UAB*. 1772. https://digitalcommons.library.uab.edu/etd-collection/1772

This content has been accepted for inclusion by an authorized administrator of the UAB Digital Commons, and is provided as a free open access item. All inquiries regarding this item or the UAB Digital Commons should be directed to the UAB Libraries Office of Scholarly Communication.

CULTURAL AND GENDER DIFFERENCES IN CHILD ABUSE RISK IN AFRICAN AMERICAN AND WHITE EXPECTANT MOTHERS AND FATHERS

by

ANJALI GOWDA

CHRISTINA M. RODRIGUEZ, PH.D., COMMITTEE CHAIR FRED BIASINI, PH.D.
OLIVIO CLAY, PH.D.
MICHELLE MARTIN, PH.D.
YOOKYONG LEE, PH.D.

A DISSERTATION

Submitted to the graduate faculty of The University of Alabama at Birmingham, in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

BIRMINGHAM, ALABAMA

2016

CULTURAL AND GENDER DIFFERENCES IN CHILD ABUSE RISK IN AFRICAN AMERICAN AND WHITE EXPECTANT MOTHERS AND FATHERS

ANJALI GOWDA

MEDICAL CLINICAL PSYCHOLOGY

ABSTRACT

Previous maltreatment literature examining child physical abuse risk has not

effectively examined cultural nuances in risk and protective factors. Further, research has

relied heavily upon maternal only samples, limiting our understanding of paternal risk

factors. The current study examined macro-level variables (i.e., racial identification and

gender role ideologies) in conjunction with individual-level factors (i.e., attribution of

child intent and acceptability of abuse) as they relate to parental abuse risk. The study

employed explicit and implicit measures administered to 142 African American and

White first-time expectant mother and father dyads. Study hypotheses were partially

supported, identifying both consistencies and inconsistencies across race. With regard to

gender, findings differed for mothers and fathers as they relate to individual-level risk

factors. Gender role ideologies demonstrated a significant relation for both mothers and

fathers and partner effects were also observed. Findings inform both universal and

culturally sensitive parenting interventions and research. Additionally, results

demonstrate a continued need to disentangle and identify individual-level risk factors that

may be unique to fathers.

Keywords: Child Abuse Risk, Gender, Culture

ii

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank our participating families and Obstetrics/Gynecology clinics that facilitated recruitment. This research was supported by award number R15HD071431 from the National Institute of Child Health and Human Development awarded to Christina Rodriguez. The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institute of Child Health and Human Development or the National Institutes of Health.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
ABSTRACT	ii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iii
LIST OF TABLES	vi
LIST OF FIGURES	vii
CHAPTER	
1 INTRODUCTION	1
Continuum of Parent-Child Aggression	2
Theoretical Models of Abuse Risk	
Culture and Parenting	
Racial Socialization and Racial Identity	
Gender and Parenting	
Attitudes about Gender Roles	
Individual-level Risk Factors	
Definitions of Physical Abuse	27
Attributions of Child Behavior	
Methodological Concerns	33
Current Study	36
2 METHODS	40
Participants	40
Procedure	
Materials	42
Parent Abuse-Risk Measures	42
Cultural Measures	44
Measures of Attribution Bias	
Definition/Acceptability of Abuse Measures	
Data Analyses	49
3 RESULTS	52
Normative Comparisons	52
Subgroup Demographic Comparisons	
Mothers' Demographic Analyses	
Fathers' Demographic Analyses	54
Gender Comparisons	
Racial Comparisons	55

Maternal Report	56
Paternal Report	56
Multivariate Analyses Examining Racial Differences	57
Actor-Partner Analyses Examining Gender Differences	58
61 Explicit Measures	
Maternal Implicit vs. Explicit Models	61
Paternal Implicit vs. Explicit Models	62
4 DISCUSSION	64
Findings for White Parents	66
Findings for African American Parents	70
Findings for Mothers	73
Findings for Fathers	77
Methodological Findings	79
Limitations	
Clinical and Experimental Implications	84
LIST OF REFERENCES	88

LIST OF TABLES

Table	Page
1 Description of Participant Characteristics by Group	113
2 Subgroup Comparisons across Measures	115
3 Means, Standard Deviations, and Correlations Between Maternal Measures	116
4 Means, Standard Deviations, and Correlations Between Paternal Measures	117
5 Full Regression Model Predicting White Parents Abuse Risk.	118
6 Full Regression Model Predicting African American Parents Abuse Risk	119

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure		Page
1	Hypothesized Model for White and African American Parents	120
2	Hypothesized APIM Model	121
3	Multiple Regression of Standardized Estimates White Parents	122
4	Multiple Regression of Standardized Estimates African American Parents	123
5	APIM of Standard Estimates	124

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

In 2014, the Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) estimated 3.6 million reports of abuse and neglect in the United States ([DHHS], 2016). This finding was a reported 8.3 percent increase in referrals since 2010 ([DHHS], 2016). Of these cases, only 702,000 were substantiated or confirmed, suggesting a majority of cases do not meet the high standards for legal confirmation and action (Department of Health and Human Services [DHHS], 2016). This disparity between referral and substantiation rates raises questions regarding the nature of this select substantiated group.

Physical abuse comprised 17 percent of the substantiated cases, the second most prevalent form of maltreatment (DHHS, 2013). Child physical maltreatment is defined as "a physical act that caused or could cause physical injury to a child" (DHHS, 2016, p. 103). Physical abuse in childhood is universally considered a public health concern with enduring effects associated with maladaptive behavioral and social-emotional outcomes in children that disrupt development with problems that persist into adulthood (Runyon, Deblinger, Ryan, & Thakkar-Kolar, 2004; Lau et al., 2006).

Biases in reporting to protective services suggest substantiated cases significantly underestimate the national prevalence rates (Sedlak et al., 2010), as only severe cases of abuse meet the high standards of legal confirmation. High caseloads and limited resources prevent agencies from efficiently responding to referrals. Research examining

the rate of child physical abuse suggests a prevalence rate 5-11 times greater than officially reported (Sedlak, 2010; Straus, Hamby, Finkelhor, Moore, & Runyan, 1998). Further, overrepresentation of severe physical abuse in agencies often translates to overrepresentation of these groups within the maltreatment research literature (Sedlak et al., 2010), largely ignoring undetected samples. Although studying substantiated groups has informed understanding of outcomes and factors associated with confirmed abuse, identifying risk factors predictive of engaging in abuse prospectively is therefore limited (Stith et al., 2009). In addition, outcome research examining future abuse perpetration shows substantiated samples are not meaningfully different than unsubstantiated samples (English et al., 2002). Therefore, a focus on substantiation alone may not be sufficient to clarify predictors of recurrence or initial incidents of child abuse, suggesting substantiation is not an adequate indicator of need for services or focus of research. Therefore, in order to effectively predict child physical maltreatment and identify risk factors, researchers must begin to adopt a preventative approach to examining abuse by targeting the high numbers of unsubstantiated and undetected cases. This approach allows for the assessment of risk factors associated with abuse prior to the abuse occurring. An understanding of underlying mechanisms that place an individual at a heightened risk to abuse will inform intervention strategies and potentially offset the abuse trajectory.

Continuum of Parent-Child Physical Aggression

A continuum of physical aggression is often used to characterize the varying degrees of parent-child physical aggression with mild physical discipline at one end and extreme physical abuse on the other end. Physical discipline or corporal punishment is defined as "the use of physical force with the intention of causing a child to experience

pain but not injury, for the purpose of correction or control of the child's behavior" (Straus, 2000, p. 1110). Physical abuse is considered to occur when a parent unintentionally increases their application of physical discipline (Herrenkohl, Herrenkohl, & Egolf, 1983; Whipple & Richey, 1997). Individuals evidencing socially accepted physical discipline strategies in the U.S. are considered sub-abusive and fall along the continuum prior to the abusive range (Graziano, 1994). However, physically abusive parents often begin in the sub-abusive area of the continuum and later move to the abusive end (Whipple & Richey, 1997). Determining where physical discipline becomes physically abusive along the continuum is often a difficult task, with no clear differentiation (Gershoff, 2002; Graziano, 1994). Parents who are physically abusive also often engage in harsh physical discipline strategies (Veltkamp & Miller, 1994). Both child abuse (Runyon, Deblinger, Ryan, & Thakkar-Kolar, 2004) and corporal punishment (Gershoff, 2002) have demonstrated maladaptive outcomes in children. Thus, the continuum provides a framework for conceptualizing physical discipline strategies, with mild physical discipline at one endpoint and harsh physical discipline closer to the abusive end (Rodriguez, 2010). However, in order to better understand transitions between mild and harsh parental disciplinary strategies, we must also consider contextual factors such as the general parenting style that may inform the physical discipline methods parents choose to implement.

Parenting style has historically been defined along two dimensions of warmth and demandingness that parents employ in their interactions with their children (Baumrind, 1971). These two dimensions yield four distinct styles, three of which (Authoritative, Authoritarian and Permissive) are the focus of most research (Fletcher, Walls, Cook,

Madison, & Bridges, 2008; Park & Bauer, 2002; Simons & Conger, 2007). This project contrasts research on the two styles referred to as the primarily "positive" and "negative" parenting styles, Authoritative and Authoritarian, respectively (Grolnick & Ryan, 1989). Authoritative parenting is characterized as a "positive" parenting style in which parents exercise a high level of control, yet are also high on the warmth dimension (Baumrind, 1971; Grolnick, 2013). These parents are described as firm when necessary, yet warm and encouraging of autonomous behavior in children (Grolnick, 2013; Grolnick & Ryan, 1989). Authoritarian parenting style, however, is often considered a maladaptive or "negative" parenting style, characterized as parenting practices high in control and low in warmth (Buamrind, 1971; Grolnick, 2013). These parents are often found to have very strict standards and punitive measures of control (Grolnick, 2013; Grolnick & Ryan, 1989).

Literature suggests a relation between parental discipline preferences and parenting styles. Parents reporting an authoritarian parenting style endorse greater use of corporal punishment as a discipline strategy (Paquette, Bolte, Turcotte, Dubeau, & Bouchard, 2000). Therefore, some researchers have incorporated corporal punishment approval attitudes and corporal punishment use as a factor contributing to a profile of authoritarian parenting (Robinson, Mandleco, Olsen, & Hart, 2001). Authoritarian parents' rigidity in enforcing strict standards and demanding compliance (Larzelere & Kuhn, 2005) may prompt physical discipline tactics that lead them closer to the abusive end of the continuum, thereby increasing the likelihood they will ultimately engage in physical abuse. A study examining substantiated abusive and non-abusive parents found significant group differences in reported parenting style (Wilson, Rack, Shi, & Norris,

2008). Parents substantiated for physical abuse reported greater authoritarian parenting styles than non-abusive parents (Wilson et al., 2008). In addition, parents reporting greater authoritarian parenting styles endorsed greater child abuse risk and greater use of physically abusive discipline strategies (Rodriguez, 2010). Therefore, in order to effectively understand when physical discipline moves along the continuum to become physical abuse, we must take into consideration authoritarian parenting styles and their influence on discipline attitudes and practices that could culminate in physical abuse.

Past research has primarily focused on identification of risk and protective factors in a substantiated sample, which again represents a small and severe proportion of cases and limits understanding of the transition from the sub-abusive to the abusive end of the continuum. Therefore, contemporary literature has focused on identifying processes in sub-abusive samples affording a preventative approach in examining abuse by identifying risk for parent-child aggression before parents engage in abuse. In order to facilitate this process, the term *child abuse potential* was coined to measure an individual's likelihood of engaging in physically aggressive discipline strategies that move toward the abusive end of the continuum (Milner, 1994). This approach allows for the assessment of subabusive samples from a preventative framework, affording an estimate of parental child abuse risk (Milner, 1994). Child abuse potential assess a parent's intrapersonal and interpersonal difficulties characteristic of an individual's beliefs and behaviors contributing to a parent's individual risk for employing physically abusive discipline strategies (Milner, 1994). Therefore, in order to effectively address child maltreatment, we must start by examining factors predictive of a parent's potential to engage in

physically aggressive discipline strategies that may later become abusive, namely child abuse potential.

One avenue toward this prevention effort is to identify at-risk processes prenatally in expectant parents. Understanding parenting attitudes and beliefs that predict abuse-risk in pregnant mothers and their partners before the child is born can inform intensive preventative programs that address these factors and potentially offset child abuse from occurring (Berlin, Dodge & Reznick, 2013; Bugental & Happaney, 2004). Specifically, assessing a combination of environmental factors (socio-economic status, maternal age, education level; Sedlak et al., 2010), contributors to parental individual and interpersonal distress (child abuse potential; Milner, 1994), negative attitudes and beliefs about parenting (Bavolek & Keene, 2001), as well as parenting practices and behaviors (Haskett, Scott & Fann, 1995) within pregnant first-time parents will afford a multifaceted and comprehensive preventative conceptualization of abuse-risk. Overall, in order to adopt a preventative approach in examining child physical abuse, researchers must examine early risk factors for various dimensions of the parent-child aggression continuum. In doing so, preventative interventions can target modification of maladaptive parenting attitudes and behaviors to potentially offset the occurrence of child physical abuse.

Theoretical Models of Abuse Risk

In an effort to understand the abusive end of the parent-child aggression continuum, one theory employing a multifaceted approach is the ecological theory proposed by Belsky (1980). Adopted from Bronfenbrenner's bio-ecological model (Bronfenbrenner, 1997), Belsky's theory suggests child physical abuse is determined by

transactional processes between proximal and distal factors influencing the parent at various levels of interaction (Belsky, 1980, 1993). These transactions may either be positive or negative factors that ultimately contribute to or offset an individual's developmental outcome is frequently assessed through the degree of risk factors that promote maladaptive outcomes and the number of protective factors that buffer or offset a maladaptive trajectory (Shonkoff & Phillps, 2000). These factors are often a complex combination of cultural, environmental, family and individual-level psychosocial forces that predict physical maltreatment (National Research Council, 1993).

Ecological models of child development identify the parent as a proximal factor contributing to a child's developmental outcomes; therefore, the parent's personal development becomes of interest (Sidebotham, 2001). The closest, most proximal, level of the model (ontological) includes a parent's individual-level qualities such as life experiences (i.e., past childhood abuse), intra- and interpersonal functioning related to parental cognitions, attitudes, and behavior.

One risk theory emphasizing cognitive mechanisms within the ontological level is Milner's (1993) Social Informational Processing (SIP) theory. The SIP theory suggests four stages of cognitions at the ontological level may influence parental decision-making processes in the application and implementation of discipline strategies that become abusive (Milner, 2000). Specifically, maladaptive cognitions may underlie a parent's justification for the use of harsh discipline strategies that approach the abusive end of the continuum (Milner, 1993).

According to SIP theory, pre-existing cognitive schemas regarding discipline exist within every individual, and these schemas are later activated through parent-child interactions and during disciplinary encounters (Milner, 1993). High-risk parents are predicted to then make processing errors in assessing their child's behavior due to maladaptive preexisting schema, often viewing their child's behavior negatively (Milner, 2000). Therefore, during the first stage of the SIP model (Perception), high-risk parents perceive greater noncompliance in child behavior (Milner, 2000). The second stage involves the interpretation of the parent-child interaction. During this stage, high-risk parents make faulty judgments of their child's intent, often blaming the child for their behavior (Milner, 2000). The third stage of the SIP model involves a process of information integration in which the parent selects a disciplinary response. High-risk parents often fail to consider contextual factors that may explain children's misbehavior, resulting in selection of punitive approaches (Milner, 2000). Therefore, during the final implementation stage, errors in processing made in the previous stages inform parental discipline behavior utilizing harsh physical punishment methods that are not adequately monitored (Milner, 2000). However, these ontological cognitive factors alone are not sole predictors of maltreatment. Rather, these factors are exacerbated through transactions with additional ecologically distal variables.

Therefore, the next level of the ecological model (microsystem) examines contributing factors within the family system that may impact the parent-child relationship. At the microsystem level, research has examined the role of social support for parents and factors related to the parent dyad quality as contributing to individual abuse risk (Shaw & Kilburn, 2009). The exosystem is the third level encompassing

community-level factors that contribute to the likelihood of abuse. This level includes factors such as school, neighborhood and socioeconomic status (SES) as impacting the family unit as a whole. For example, studies have found a significant relation between SES and use of corporal punishment, wherein parents from lower socioeconomic status often endorse greater use of physical discipline strategies than parents from other SES groups (Lansford et al., 2004; Pinderhughes et al., 2000; Straus & Stewart, 1999). In addition, studies have demonstrated physical abuse is often more prevalent in low SES families (Lee et al., 2008; Mulvaney & Mebert, 2007), suggesting greater economic adversity may contribute to cumulative parenting stress and ultimately compromise discipline decision-making, increasing an individual's likelihood of engaging in physically abusive discipline strategies. The final level of the ecological model (macrosystem) includes cultural beliefs and societal-level values that more broadly and indirectly influence parenting practices and beliefs. This level includes societal conceptualizations of parenting roles and responsibilities (e.g., the culture's gender-role attitudes as they relate to parenting and beliefs about parenting practices), and cultural socialization practices (e.g., racial identity development). This level of the ecological model is of particular interest in this study and will be discussed further below.

Overall, Belsky's model emphasizes the importance of a multidimensional approach, wherein no one factor can be considered the sole casual explanation of child abuse. Rather, child maltreatment is likely an interaction of risk and protective factors that may change over time (Belsky, 1993). Traditionally, risk factors have been the sole focus of maltreatment literature in an attempt to identify predictors of perpetration. However, contemporary research has stressed the importance of examining protective

factors more extensively within the context of child maltreatment (Shonkoff & Phillps, 2000). Protective factors are those considered to buffer or offset risk, often described as resilience (Shonkoff & Phillps, 2000). To date, social support, parent resilience, parenting knowledge, social-emotional competence, and supportive family environment have been studied as protective factors mitigating child maltreatment (Kotch et al., 1999; Shaw & Kilburn, 2009). Although child maltreatment is often considered a complex phenomenon influenced by individual, family, community and cultural factors (National Research Council, 1993), few studies comprehensively examine the impact of both risk and protective factors across these levels and their relation to abuse risk in unsubstantiated samples. Research has suggested greater cumulative psychosocial stressors that outweigh protective supports relate to greater physical abuse risk (Wekerle, Wall, Leung, & Trocme, 2007; World Health Organization, 2006). However, the literature is generally limited to substantiated samples of parents, thereby constraining our understanding of the potential protective and risk factors within an unsubstantiated context suitable for prevention approaches. Informed by Belsky's ecological model, the current study examines individual abuse risk by assessing cultural and gender-specific protective factors. Specifically, an assessment of these mechanisms in a culturally diverse sample is needed in order to assist with the promotion of culturally competent and sound practice and preventative interventions.

Culture and Parenting

Culture is defined as a "set of beliefs, attitudes, values and standards of behavior that are passed on from one generation to the next" (Abney, 2002, p.477). Culture is

often considered a dynamic process which cannot be viewed as having a uniform impact on all members. Culture is not a homogenous phenomenon as within-group variability is frequently greater than differences observed between groups (Korbin, 2002). All aspects of development are influenced by culture including parenting beliefs and practices (Caughy & Franzini, 2005; Coard et al., 2004; Shonkoff & Phillips, 2000). However, culture is often defined along broad categories based on skin color or geographic area for grouping purposes (Korbin, 1994). These broad categorizations, although perhaps useful for some reasons, fail to accurately capture nuances within a culture. Further examination of the aspects of culture that may contribute to both within- and between-group differences in parenting and child maltreatment is needed.

Rates of child abuse reported in community samples show similarities across racial minority groups (Charlow, 2002); however, African American children are overrepresented in welfare agencies and foster care when compared to the population at large (DHHS, 2016). National reporting statistics estimate African American children comprise 21 percent of reported cases (DHHS, 2016). Conversely, White Americans are often underrepresented in the child welfare and foster care systems (Fontes, 2005). Incidence of child abuse in African American children between 2005-2006 was two times the rate of White children (Sedlak et. al, 2010). Specifically, African American children experienced significantly higher rates of physical abuse than children from other groups (Sedlak et. al, 2010). The reason for these differences is debated and possible explanations include biases in reporting (Ards, Chung, & Myers, 1998), differences in socioeconomic and neighborhood factors (Coulton, Korbin, & Su, 1999), and a lack of services and resources in certain communities (Ards, et. al, 1998). Research has identified

greater severity of consequences and outcomes for maltreated ethnic minority children (Cohen, Delinger, Mannaino, & Arellano, 2001). African American children were three times as likely as White children to die from child abuse (Connelly & Straus, 1992). In addition, when ethnic minority parents enter the welfare system, they are often met with adversarial procedures evidenced by the greater number of court proceedings (Roberts, 2002). These studies examining differences in outcome do not adequately consider biases in reporting and contextual factors that may influence these relations. Many of these earlier studies do not account for the role of attitudes, beliefs and parenting styles that may explain differences in abuse rates between African American and White families (Drake, & Jonson-Reid, 2011; Valentino et al., 2012). Rather, early studies focus on race itself as an explanatory variable for abuse. This gap in the research underscores the need for greater understanding of risk and protective factors that inform culturally competent intervention and research strategies in examining child abuse.

Currently, little research exists in comprehensively examining cultural processes in relation to abuse risk. The majority of early research on child abuse simply ignored cultural factors, assuming all families were comparable to White American families (Fontes, 2005). These studies relied solely on samples of White American families or often failed to report racial demographics of the sample (Fontes, 2005). Existing studies including samples of multiple racial groups have focused on factors that cannot be modified such as demographic and background variables (e.g., race, ethnicity and sex) when considering "cultural" factors believed to contribute to abuse (Black et al., 2001; Lee & George, 1999; Stith et al., 2009). Although these demographic factors are useful in initial categorizations, research has increasingly noted that grouping individuals based on

census categories may conceal cultural differences (Abney, 1996; Fontes, 2001). Further, this approach to examining abuse has frequently resulted in misrepresentation of information by lay media, often implicating and stigmatizing certain groups or neighborhoods and failing to convey the pervasiveness of child abuse. For example, although reports indicate a pervasive disparity between African American and White children's rates of abuse, these studies do not effectively examine the potential role of income and poverty (Drake & Jonson-Reid, 2011).

With regard to parenting in general, research examining parenting styles suggests African American parents endorse greater use of authoritarian parenting styles than White Americans (Fite, Stoppelbein, & Greening, 2009; Jackson-Newsom, Buchanan, & McDonald, 2008). However, in other studies, ethnic minority parents report a preference for authoritative parenting practices (Bluestone, Tamis-LeMonda, 1999; Bradley, 1998) and some studies have reported no group differences between endorsements of ethnic minority parents and White parents' use of authoritative parenting styles (Steinberg, Blatt-Eisengart, & Cauffman, 2006). With regard to child outcomes and endorsement of authoritarian parenting, research suggests mixed findings by race. Some studies have not identified negative outcomes in children from African American families adopting authoritarian parenting practices (Deater-Deckard et al., 1996; Taylor & Roberts, 1995; Lansford et al., 2004; Valentino, 2012). Specifically, literature has suggested authoritarian parenting in African American mothers is not associated with externalizing behaviors (Deater-Deckard et al., 1996), and can lead to less aggressive behavior and positive developmental outcomes in children (Gunnoe & Mariner, 1997; Lansford et al., 2004). Yet additional studies note sensitive, responsive parenting not characteristic of

authoritarian parenting is optimal and associated with prosocial outcomes across African American and White mother-child dyads (Landry, Smith, & Swank, 2006). Additional research is necessary to clarify these racial differences in order to elucidate attitudes and beliefs explaining the endorsement of these parenting styles.

In addition, research has noted cultural differences with regard to discipline practices and attitudes. Specifically, African American mothers hold positive attitudes towards the use of corporal punishment, wherein corporal punishment is not considered detrimental to the child (Lansford et al., 2004; Polaha, Larzelere, Shapiro, & Pettit, 2004). However, White and Hispanic Americans when compared to African American mothers and fathers view the use of all forms of physical discipline as negatively impacting child outcomes (Gershoff, 2002; Whiteside-Mansell et al., 2009). Similar to the parenting styles literature, findings regarding racial group membership and physical discipline practices are mixed. Some studies have found White American mothers are more likely than African American mothers to endorse corporal punishment practices when they believe their child's misbehavior is intentional (Burchinal, Skinner, & Reznick, 2010). However, previous studies suggest African American mothers more positively endorse corporal punishment than White Americans (Jambunathan, Burts, & Pierce, 2000) and have been found to view spanking as an effective discipline strategy (Caughy & Franzini, 2005). Furthermore, African American men have been found to endorse the greatest level of acceptance of corporal punishment as a discipline technique when compared to African American women and White men and women (Flynn, 1998).

With regard to actual use of physically aggressive discipline techniques, behaviors also vary based on racial groups. African American children are more often hit with an object, slapped and pinched than White American children (Caughy & Franzini, 2005). In addition, African American mothers and fathers reportedly engage in spanking as a discipline method more than White parents (Wissow, 2001). These disparities in endorsement and use of physical discipline strategies could contribute to the disproportionate representation of African Americans in welfare agencies (Sedlak et al., 2010). However, minimal research effectively examines these aforementioned relations of racial group membership and abuse risk in unsubstantiated and undetected cases. Further, current research fails to examine the mechanisms by which cultural influences relate to differences in parenting and discipline attitudes (Ferrari, 2002). Rather than focusing on fixed variables of race that cannot be modified, the literature should examine factors and cultural mechanisms such as parenting style, attitudes and beliefs that may explain cultural differences in abuse risk.

Further, culture can offer both risk and protective factors, strengths and weaknesses that ultimately impact an individual's developmental trajectory, therefore underscoring the importance of simultaneously examining cultural resiliency within the context of child maltreatment risk (Fontes, 2005). For example, when explaining significant group differences between African American and White parents on self-reported child abuse risk, researchers identify African American families as having greater economic disadvantages (Fontes, 2005). However, African American parents are more likely to participate in community and family activities that may help with child rearing (Gelles & Straus, 1988). These activities include increased contact with relatives and the community, which can serve as support for child care and thereby reduce risk for abuse (Cazenave & Straus, 1979). The presence of these social networks of support can

mitigate the strains associated with parenting and promote positive child outcomes and prevent the occurrence of child maltreatment (Garbarino & Kostelny, 1992). The literature must move to examine more specific constructs related to race in order to better understand these potential culture-specific protective factors within the context of child maltreatment.

Racial Socialization and Racial Identity

Culture norms influence how parents socialize their children and teach their children skills (Leary, 2013; Ogbu, 1981, 2013). These skills later become important in adult socio-cultural competence and interactions with various individuals and groups (Ogbu, 1981, 2013). African Americans must actively learn to cope with hostility and discrimination from the majority group and its disparaging views of African American culture (Brown & Krishnakumar, 2007). Therefore, African American parents become essentially responsible for protecting their children from these negative experiences by teaching them to understand the realities of being African American (Brown, 2008; Ward, 2000). The strategies African American parents employ to teach their children to cope vary and are collectively termed "racial socialization" strategies (Abell, Clawson, Washington, Bost, & Vaughn, 1996; Coard et al., 2004; Franklin, Boyd-Franklin, & Draper, 2002; Hughes & Chen, 1997; McGroder, 2000; Peters, 1988; Stevenson, Davis & Abdul-Kabir, 2001; Wilson, 1990).

Racial socialization is defined as "the developmental processes by which children acquire the behaviors, perceptions, values, and attitudes of an ethnic group, and come to see themselves and others as members of the group" (Rotheram & Phinney, 1987, p. 11). This developmental process is considered to occur in a society where dark skin may lead

to greater experiences of discrimination and therefore negative outcomes for African Americans (Brown, 2008; Coard et al., 2004; Peters, 1985). Hence, parents within this group often engage in child-rearing practices that promote psychological and physical health to counter this existing cultural obstacle. Racial socialization is often conceptualized as including three components: (1) personal and group identity, (2) intergroup and inter-individual relationships and (3) social hierarchy (Brown, 2008; Coard et al., 2004; Thornton et al., 1990). Teaching modalities include verbal or nonverbal deliberate or unintended messages promoting cultural heritage and pride, preparation for future bias, racial mistrust and egalitarianism (Brown, 2008; Hughes & Chen, 1999). African American parents have been the most widely researched group in using racial socialization practices. Research has demonstrated greater promotion of racial socialization practices are related to positive socio-emotional and behavioral outcomes in children (Caughy, O-Campo, Randolph, & Nickerson, 2002). These outcomes include positive mother-child interactions (Frabutt, Walker, & MacKinnon-Lewis, 2002) and positive ethnic identity formation (Demo & Hughes, 1990; Stevenson, 1995). A study examining African American mother-child dyads found that those who engaged in moderate racial socialization evidenced the most positivity, communication and warmth toward their children compared to mothers who did not endorse high levels of racial socialization strategies; further, mothers in the moderate socialization group evidenced the lowest levels of mother-child negativity (Frabutt, Walker, & MacKinnon-Lewis, 2002).

Data from the National Survey of African Americans revealed socialization practices are related to an individual's gender, marital status and racial identity

(Thornton, 1997). Mothers are more likely than fathers to convey racial messages in their parenting (Thornton et al., 1990). Specifically, older women who were highly educated were the most likely to engage in socialization practices (Thornton et al., 1990). In addition, an individual's racial identity informs the frequency and content of racial socialization practices. For example, parents with a greater sense of racial identity are likely to hold stronger convictions regarding cultural knowledge they wish to disseminate to their children (Thomas, 2000). Racial identity is considered a component of racial socialization often conceptualized on a continuum (Phinney, 1996) and is defined as a measure of attitudes and beliefs one holds about their ethnic group and attitudes toward other racial groups (Thomas, 2000). Rather than focusing on race alone as a construct, an examination of racial identity affords understanding of how ethnic minority group members interpret and view their own race and how this influences their judgments (Terao et al., 2001).

Previous studies examining racial identity in minority populations have demonstrated positive mental health outcomes (Crocker, Luhtanen, Blaine, & Broadnax, 1994; Goodstien & Ponterotto, 1997). For example, African Americans evidencing greater internalized positive racial identity reported healthier psychological functioning (Belgrave & Allison, 2010; Helms, 1993; Sellers, Copeland-Linder, Martin & Lewis, 2006), and greater self-esteem (Bracy et al., 2004; Goodstien & Ponterotto, 1997; Sellers, Copeland-Linder, Martin & Lewis, 2006). In addition, mothers and fathers with higher levels of racial identity have demonstrated a greater likelihood to emphasize racial socialization as an important parenting practice (Thomas, 2000).

African Americans must develop competence and coping skills to combat environmental stressors they are more likely to experience on a daily basis based solely on their minority status (Clark, 1991; Miller, 1999) A strong racial identity is associated with greater success and prosocial outcomes when dealing with stressors (Miller, 1999). Therefore racial socialization and racial identity are often considered protective factors for African Americans. As noted before, cumulative environmental stress and individuallevel stress is a strong predictor of physical abuse risk in parents, as feelings of being overwhelmed when dealing with stressors can impact discipline appraisals and ultimately result in use of more physically aggressive discipline strategies (Miller-Perrin, 2012; Whipple & Webster-Stratton, 1991). The resources provided by racial identity and racial socialization may mitigate or facilitate African Americans' coping with stress (Hood, Brevard, Nguyen, & Belgrave, 2012). Studies are limited examining this relation to parenting constructs; however, previous research has demonstrated positive racial identity is a protective factor against the presence of stress for African Americans (Sellers et al., 2006).

Currently, examination of racial socialization and racial identity within the child maltreatment and abuse risk research is scarce. Many studies often focus on racial identity as a protective outcome in adolescence (Belgrave & Allison, 2010; Helms, 1993; Sellers, Copeland-Linder, Martin & Lewis, 2006); however, researchers fail to examine the potential protective role of racial identity within the context of parenting and how it may buffer an individual's abuse risk. In examining these specific cultural factors within a parenting sample, we can begin to unpack the aforementioned racial/cultural differences

in child maltreatment risk and begin to identify modifiable culture-specific variables that may offset an abusive parenting trajectory.

Gender and Parenting

Similar to a need for increased culturally competent research, child maltreatment studies are in desperate need for examination of models across genders, yet another macrosystem level variable that may relate to abuse risk. The vast majority of the existing literature has focused on maternal samples thereby limiting understanding of paternal parenting practices and beliefs contributing to child maltreatment (Behl, Conyngham, & May, 2003). Mothers are often regarded as the primary caregiver, becoming the focus of parenting research. However, fathers comprise a substantial proportion of physical abuse perpetrators. In 2014, DHHS reports reveal fathers account for 44 percent of child physical abuse perpetrators (DHHS, 2016), and are likely to engage in the most serious forms of child maltreatment (Brewster et al., 1998; Stiffman, Schnitzer, Adam, Kruse, & Ewigman, 2002). Despite these alarming statistics, models examining paternal abuse risk and parenting practices are relatively scarce (Guterman & Lee, 2005).

The focus on maternal samples posits mothers, as primary caregivers, are at greatest risk for employing physically aggressive discipline strategies further along the abuse end of the continuum (Ferrari, 2002, Stith et al., 2009). However, recent shifts in societal trends have demonstrated greater paternal involvement in parenting (Cabrera, Tamis-LeMonda, Bradley, Hofferth, & Lamb, 2000; Dette-Hagenmeyer, Erzinger, & Reichle, 2014). Specifically, mothers engage in more daily care of children and household responsibilities, whereas fathers may occupy the role of disciplinarian (Straus

& Stewart, 1999). The largest increase in parental involvement was observed in African American and Latino fathers (Hofferth, 2003), a macro-level influence. Such cultural changes underscore the increased need for an examination of fathers in child maltreatment research. Fathers may both directly engage in physically abusive behaviors themselves, or influence maternal abuse risk indirectly (Dubowitz, 2006). Greater paternal involvement in child rearing practices suggests a need to study risk and protective factors both unique to fathers as well as qualities shared by both parents and as they relate to abuse risk.

Limited existing literature examining paternal individual risk for perpetration of abuse has demonstrated that younger fathers (Lee, Guterman, & Lee, 2008) and those with substance abuse (Ammerman, Kolko, Kirisci, Blackson, & Dawes, 1999; Lee, Perron, Taylor, & Guterman, 2011) evidence greater use of corporal punishment and child abuse risk. In addition, financial factors such as unemployment status and income demonstrated a relation between paternal abuse risk in some studies (Wolnfer & Gelles, 1993) but not in others (Lee et al., 2008). However, mechanisms explaining these findings are less clear. With regard to discipline strategies specifically, mothers and fathers have been shown to endorse similar discipline methods. For example, both mothers and fathers share an acceptance of severe physical discipline approaches (Nobes & Smith, 1997) and often utilize comparable rates of corporal punishment, although fathers engage in more severe force (Nobes et al., 1999). These findings are consistent with previous literature demonstrating greater similarities than disagreement between maternal and paternal physical discipline practices (Margolin, 1992).

However, findings comparing paternal and maternal abuse risk are mixed. Earlier studies examining young parents (age 14-24) reveal unique factors contributing to paternal abuse risk (Florsheim et al., 2003). Yet research has also demonstrated paternal characteristics (e.g., level of involvement with the child) as reported by mothers, are related to maternal abuse risk, suggesting parental abuse risk is an interactive process within the parenting dyad (Guterman et al., 2009). Research has revealed fathers demonstrate similar risk profiles as mothers (Schaeffer et al., 2005; Smith Slep & O'Leary, 2007); however, specific risk and protective factors related to the parenting dyad and their use of harsh physical discipline is less clear. Findings suggesting an interconnectedness and synchronicity between maternal and paternal discipline behaviors afford an opportunity for examination of potential shared variables that may act as risk and protective aspects for both parents. Although mothers and fathers' use of physical discipline strategies and risk profiles may be similar (Schaeffer et al., 2005), parenting styles often do not correspond between parents (Martin, Ryan & Brooks-Gunn, 2007). As mentioned above, one parent may act as the disciplinarian and more frequently engage in discipline encounters compared to the other parent (Straus & Stewart, 1999). Therefore, understanding how these shared factors may relate to individual abuse risk is also important and not well documented in the literature.

In sum, inclusion of fathers in maltreatment research is evolving, yet limited.

Although fathers represent a significant proportion of child physical abuse perpetrators, often engaging in more severe forms of physical abuse, there is an overreliance on maternal reports of parenting. Previous studies including fathers have relied heavily on retrospective reporting from children, adolescents, and other adults regarding parenting

behaviors within the family system (Pears & Capaldi, 2001). The inclusion of fathers within these studies is an important initial step; however, the reliance on others' reports of paternal parenting behavior is subject to biases and possible underestimation (Nobes & Smith, 1997). The overrepresentation of maternal samples in the literature significantly limits understanding of risk and resiliency related to paternal parenting practices.

Therefore, in order to comprehensively understand abuse risk and advance prevention efforts, an examination of paternal factors to complement existing research on maternal abuse risk models is needed. Furthermore, advancement of informed intervention efforts for both mothers and fathers cannot rely on research that solely focuses on an examination of relations in substantiated and identified samples of parents. This study seeks to address this gap in the literature by examining both maternal and paternal models of abuse risk and protective factors in an unsubstantiated sample.

Attitudes about Gender Roles

Within the broader cultural framework, gender roles are attitudes and behaviors defined by society and assigned to men and women (Eagly & Wood, 1999). Theories informed by social structural models purport men and women occupy certain gendered roles based on individual choice and sociocultural scripts (Gershuny, Bittman, & Brice, 2005). Similar to other psychosocial constructs, gender-role attitudes can be examined on a continuum ranging from traditional to nontraditional (Katz-Wise, Priess, & Hyde, 2010). Traditional gender roles refer to the interdependence of men and women in relationships and the clear distinction of power, wherein, men are regarded as the breadwinners of the family and women are maternal homemakers (Gershuny, Bittman, & Brice, 2005; Rogers & Amato, 2000; Zuo, 2004). Traditional fathers provide instrumental

support, including financial support and discipline, but less emotional support (Rogers & Amato, 2000). Nontraditional gender roles are often described as an egalitarian perspective in which power distinctions are less pronounced and both parents are viewed as contributing equally to child-rearing and family economics (Rogers & Amato, 2000).

Men and women have become less traditional in their gender role ideologies (Amato, Johnson, Booth, & Rogers, 2003; Brewster & Padavic, 2000; Thornton, 1989). This shift in role attitudes has resulted in men increasing their involvement in parenting and women increasing their involvement in the workforce (Amato, Johnson, Booth, & Rogers, 2003; Bianchi, Milkie, Sayer & Robinson, 2000). The gender attitudes individuals hold significantly influence family functioning and parenting (Katz-Wise, Priess, & Hyde, 2010). One of the greatest sources of conflict and distress in parenthood is division of household labor and child-rearing responsibilities (Belsky & Pensky, 1988; Crohan, 1996). The division of labor reflects fairness and equality in a couple relationship; the presence of children can exacerbate potential inequalities between mothers and fathers (Twenge, Campbell, & Foster, 2003). Although men have become more involved in child-rearing, women still spend twice as much time as men on childcare responsibilities (Pleck & Masciadrelli, 2004).

Traditionally, when men are valued for their financial support and their career is considered of greater importance than their partner's career, they are afforded exemption from many caregiving responsibilities (Steil, 1997). Families in which men and women hold traditional values with regards to marriage and parenthood are likely to have fathers who are less involved in child-rearing practices (Bianchi, Milkie, Sayer, & Robinson, 2000). Further, research examining parenting styles has demonstrated adolescents from

traditional households endorsed greater use of authoritarian parenting styles by their mothers and fathers than individuals from egalitarian households (Sabattini & Leaper, 2004). Therefore, when mothers and fathers endorse more egalitarian gender roles, fathers are likely to be more involved with their children and potentially warmer in their interactions (Sabattini & Leaper, 2004). Consequently, traditional fathers are likely to exhibit less warmth with children than non-traditional fathers.

Families in which mothers and fathers endorse equity in child-rearing practices often engage in similar parenting strategies (Deutsch, 1999). Men and women with egalitarian parenting attitudes have demonstrated greater couple satisfaction (Risman & Johnson-Sumerford, 1998). Equity in child-rearing becomes an important focus of child maltreatment literature because fathers' involvement in parenting is important for reducing maternal stress (Kalil, Ziol-Guest, & Coley, 2005). As noted above, stress is one of the strongest predictors of child maltreatment risk in parents (Miller-Perrin, 2012; Whipple & Webster-Stratton, 1991). Therefore, families in which both mothers and fathers endorse egalitarian attitudes and gender equality may protect individuals from parenting stress by providing a context of shared responsibility. Within the context of child maltreatment, egalitarian non-traditional gender role attitudes may serve as a protective factor associated with maltreatment risk.

The current study examined the protective role of egalitarian gender role ideologies from a macro-level, ethnocultural framework in both mothers and fathers and how it relates to individual child physical abuse risk. Gender role ideologies have evolved over the years and are related to family functioning and stress. Egalitarian gender role attitudes in both mothers and fathers may mitigate stress experienced in childcare by

distributing parenting responsibilities across caregivers. However, research must examine the role of gender role attitudes within a broader risk context. Mothers and fathers may vary in both their endorsements of egalitarian roles as well in the potential impact of these ideologies on their individual abuse risk.

Individual-level Risk Factors

In addition to protective factors, a multidimensional approach necessitates the examination of parental risk factors predictive of abuse risk and harsh parenting (Shonkoff & Phillips, 2000). The examination of protective factors is relatively limited in the child maltreatment literature and an important focus of this study. However, in order to effectively understand the role of protective variables, we must also consider the role of risk factors acting as underlying mechanisms explaining observed group differences in harsh parenting (Shonkoff & Phillips, 2000). For example, aforementioned findings demonstrate African American men and women often endorse greater use and acceptance of harsh physical discipline strategies (Caughy & Franzini, 2005; Jambunathan, Burts & Pierce, 2000); however, understanding of the mechanisms by which an individual is placed at a heightened risk for abuse within this group is less clear. Similarly with regard to gender, previous studies have noted both correspondence in risk profiles, acceptance and use of physically aggressive discipline strategies between mothers and fathers (Schaeffer et al., 2005), as well as differences in risk. Yet there is little research examining potential gendered differences related to socio-cognitive factors. Therefore, in order to comprehensively examine how or why gender and culture-specific factors such as greater racial identification and egalitarian gender role attitudes may relate to lower

risk for abuse, researchers must also examine underlying paths of risk that explain differences in abuse risk across cultures and genders.

Cognitive factors such as definitions of abuse and attributions of child intent may explain observed abuse risk differences between groups. For example, cultural values, norms and beliefs may inform an individual's acceptability in defining abuse as well as deriving attributions of child behavior. In addition, definitions of abuse and attributions of child behavior may explain gender differences in abuse risk due to their level of involvement and type of caregiving responsibilities, which are considered to vary between mothers and fathers. Although definitions of abuse risk and attributions of child behaviors are noted to relate to abuse risk, the role these cognitive factors may play both between racial groups as well as between mothers and fathers is less clear. Findings regarding these cognitive factors will be further discussed below.

Definitions of Physical Abuse

Child maltreatment is indisputably a serious problem warranting attention; however, there is little agreement on what constitutes abuse (Mash & Wolfe, 1991; Rubin, 1992). Even in the United States, variability in definitions exists across subcultures, states, and regions of the country. Understanding what influences one's definition is imperative, as one's acceptability and definition of abuse are preexisting cognitive schemas within the SIP model at the ontological level often informing their decision of what parent-child aggression is appropriate (Mash & Wolfe, 1991). Currently, the legal definition of child abuse mentioned earlier provides a guideline for societal action; however an individual's acceptability of varying degrees of parent-child aggression may inform their disciplinary behaviors (Milner, 2000). Within the continuum

framework, abuse incidents occur through unintentional escalation of physical discipline (Whipple & Richey, 1997). Therefore, when physical discipline is considered acceptable (Milner, 2000), these strategies may be used more often as a discipline method and can easily and more progressively move along the continuum to become physically abusive (Whipple & Richey, 1997). According to the SIP model, preexisting maladaptive cognitions of at-risk parents may negatively influence their ability to monitor a physical discipline encounter (Milner, 2000). Thus, parents who endorse or approve of more severe forms of discipline and hold more restrictive definitions of abuse are theoretically at a greater risk for becoming physically aggressive during a physical discipline encounter (Milner, 2000).

Findings regarding acceptance of the range of physical discipline across cultures varies widely. As previously noted, some studies have suggested African Americans have a high tolerance and acceptance of corporal punishment (Pinderhughes, Dodge, Bates Pettit & Zelli, 2000; Wissow, 2001). Past literature has noted African American families hold more positive views than White Americans about the use of corporal punishment as a discipline strategy (Jambunathan, Burts & Pierce, 2000). Another study found African American mothers viewed spanking as more effective than White mothers (Caughty & Franzini, 2005). However, other studies have found no difference across low income White, Hispanic and African Americans and their acceptance of physical discipline strategies (Medora, Wilson, & Larson, 2001). These studies did not examine the relation between acceptability of parent-child aggression and individual abuse risk. The acceptance of the utilization of harsh physical discipline strategies by racial minority

parents may be part of what places them at higher risk for engaging in practices that thereby move them toward the abusive end of the continuum.

Of studies examining this construct with regard to abuse risk specifically, findings vary based on assessment. For example, some studies have noted differences between high and low-risk individuals in their acceptance of physical discipline strategies (Bower-Russa, 2005); however, other studies have found no difference between risk groups (Kelley et al., 1992; Trickett & Susman, 1988). A majority of early studies have relied on the use of self-report measures; however, these self-report measures primarily focus on attitudes about harsh parenting and do not directly assess an individual's definition of abuse. Some studies have examined this construct through use of analog assessment measures and have identified a significant relation between acceptability of parent-child aggression and abuse risk (Rodriguez et al., 2011). This variability in assessment is of primary concern in understanding parent's acceptability of parent-child aggression and definitions of child maltreatment. Assessment approaches will be discussed in detail later in this document.

In sum, one's acceptability and definitions of abuse often inform their decision to engage in parent-child aggression. When physical discipline is considered acceptable, the likelihood of utilizing these discipline strategies increases. However, how one conceptualizes and defines physical abuse across cultures, subcultures and regions varies considerably. Furthermore, research examining cultural differences is mixed, with some studies demonstrating African Americans endorse greater acceptance of physical discipline strategies, whereas other studies show no significant differences between White and African Americans. Operating from a comprehensive perspective, this study

seeks to address these aforementioned gaps and further examine cultural differences in acceptability of discipline and African American and White parents' abuse risk through use of both varied measures of assessment of the definition of abuse.

Attributions of Child Behavior

Another ontological, potentially modifiable, cognitive factor of interest to this particular study is parental attribution of child behavior. Attributions are considered a Stage two process of interpretations in the SIP model, wherein attributions a parent makes regarding the intentionality of a child's behavior affect the discipline strategies selected, potentially including physically aggressive strategies that move toward the abusive end of the continuum (Milner, 2000). At-risk parents are inclined to attribute their child's negative behaviors to internal/stable reasons and attribute positive behaviors to external and unstable causes (Dadds, Mullins, McAllister, & Atkinson, 2003; Milner, 2003). In addition, research suggests an association between attributions and negative parenting behaviors. Specifically, individuals who endorse hostile attributions about others and negatively view others' intentions are more likely to elect to use an aggressive response even for minor infractions (Orobio de Castro, Veerman, Koops, Bosch, & Monshouwer, 2002). Therefore, inaccurate or negative attributions of a child's behavior can result in biases that do not allow a parent to effectively consider alternative interpretations for a child's transgressions before electing a discipline strategy (Milner, 2003). High-risk parents who attribute their child's misbehavior as intentional are three times more likely to implement harsh physical discipline strategies than low-risk mothers (Ateah & Durrant, 2005). In addition, research comparing physically abusive mothers to a matched group of non-abusive mothers demonstrates physically abusive mothers have a greater tendency than non-abuse mothers to interpret their child's transgressions as intentional annoyance (Haskett, Scott, Willoughby, Ahern, & Nears, 2006).

Research has examined parental attributions about children's behavior in expectant mothers, (e.g., Berlin, Dodge, & Reznick, 2013). To date, only preliminary data exists and focus solely on expectant mothers, not fathers. One such study examined the association between attributions of intent of child's behavior and harsh parenting strategies. Mother-reported negative attributions of infant intent assessed prenatally were associated with maternal self-reported abuse risk and harsh parenting a year later (Bugental & Happaney, 2004). Similar findings were observed in a second study examining maternal prenatal negative attributions of children's behavior as a predictor of later official maltreatment reports. Maternal prenatal hostile attributions of children's behaviors increased harsh parenting as well as the likelihood that their child would be maltreated within the first three years of their life (Berlin, Dodge, & Reznick, 2013). These studies are the first steps in assessing this relation from a preventative approach and underscore the importance of examining hostile attributions in expectant parents as a risk factor for later maltreatment. By examining negative attributions prenatally, one can target interventions pertaining to cognitions and provide parenting resources prior to the birth of the child, potentially offsetting maladaptive child outcomes and harsh parenting. However, the existing literature only examines these constructs with expectant mothers. An examination of this relation with fathers and various racial-cultural groups will address a major gap in the literature and further inform preventative intervention strategies for families.

Findings regarding cultural differences in attributions of child intent and harsh parenting are mixed and limited. Recent studies found White mothers are slightly more likely than African American mothers to endorse the use of corporal punishment when they hold negative attributions about child intentionality (Burchinal, Skinner, Reznick, 2010). However, other research has observed ethnic minority mothers were more likely to endorse hostile attributions of child intent and later engage in child maltreatment (Berlin, Dodge, & Reznick, 2013). The existing research findings reveal mothers and fathers demonstrate similar associations. For example, a study examining parental psychological difficulties (i.e. depressive and anger symptoms) found greater attributions of intentionality in child misbehavior for both mothers and fathers and a greater tendency to endorse negative discipline practices (Leung & Slep, 2006). Aside from these studies, the child maltreatment literature fails to effectively examine both racial and gender differences in hostile attributions of child intent and their relation to individual abuse risk. The current literature largely relies on maternal sampling alone, small samples of fathers and dichotomization of racial groups in "White" and "Non-white" groups, with "Nonwhite" groups consisting of individuals from multiple and varied racial/ethnic backgrounds.

Research examining negative attributions of child behavior is relatively well examined and has begun to take a preventative approach by assessing the relation between child attributions and abuse risk in expectant mothers. However, findings are still limited with regard to fathers. Moreover, literature examining differences related to abuse risk across specific cultural groups is scarce. Therefore, a greater understanding is

needed in how child attributions operate between mothers and fathers that considers specific racial groups.

Methodological Concerns

One of the major limitations within the child maltreatment literature is the reliance on self-report assessment for collecting information. These methods, referred to as explicit, or overt, assessments, are limited in their absence of anonymity in responding. Therefore, with regard to sensitive constructs, individuals may be more likely to misrepresent in self-report and contribute to source bias (Fazio & Olsen, 2003). Dependence on self-reported measures is a limitation of the field as a whole and is particularly problematic for researchers assessing child abuse risk (DeGarmo, Reid, & Knutson, 2006). A parent's fear of negative consequences from honest reporting of parent-child aggression can lead to manipulation of information and inaccurate reporting (Bennet, Sullivan & Lewis, 2006) with a socially desirable presentation. Furthermore, self-report of constructs related to child maltreatment may be influenced by the respondent's fear of legal consequences, their internal disposition and mood (DeGarmo et al., 2006). Despite this concern, the maltreatment literature continues to rely heavily on self-reported assessments to study abuse risk.

In order to address this limitation, researchers have slowly begun to incorporate analog assessments of child maltreatment risk. Analog assessments provide measurement of sensitive topics through implicit or covert means (Fazio & Olsen, 2003), wherein, the respondent is not aware of what the task is intended to assess and/or how it is scored. The approach operates under the assumption that a lack of awareness of the construct will

lessen misrepresentation and manipulation of responses (Rodriguez, 2013). Analog assessments vary in their level of conscious awareness of the construct of interest (Fazio & Olson, 2003). Those tasks with greater respondent awareness, requiring more conscious processing, are most closely related to self-report measures and risk possible misrepresentation of responses (Rodriguez, 2013). Therefore, analog tasks which are more implicit in nature often correlate more modestly with self-reported measures of the same construct than analog tasks which are more explicit in nature (Rodriguez, Cook, & Jedrziewski, 2012). Utilization of self-reported measures as a means of assessment can be reinforced if an implicit analog task demonstrates an association with self-reported measures of the same construct (Rodriguez et al., 2012). Analog assessments are limited in the current literature as some can be costly and labor-intensive, although they can provide insight into whether the target construct is indeed relevant for investigation. Employment of such assessment approaches is imperative for progress in the child maltreatment literature (DeGarmo et al., 2006).

Few studies have incorporated use of analog assessments in the child maltreatment literature. Examples of early research utilizing implicit measures include assessment of mothers' punitive discipline responses under conditions of stress (Passman & Mullhern, 1977) and punitive responses after watching a video of child misbehavior (Fagot, 1992). More recent research has used subliminal priming to examine parental hostile attributions in at-risk and low-risk parents (Farc, Crouch, Skowronski & Milner, 2008). Studies have examined attributions of child intent through eye tracking when parents read vignettes of child transgressions (Rodriguez et al., 2012). In addition, recent

implicit tasks have included assessment of frustration tolerance paradigms as they relate to an individual's abuse risk (Rodriguez, Russa, & Kircher, 2015)

Research using implicit measures of acceptability of maltreatment remains limited. A majority of early studies employ use of explicit self-report assessment strategies alone. Explicit measures of definitions of maltreatment can unpack important differences between cultural groups and individuals. Although this approach is an important initial step, explicit measures may not directly target the assessment of cognitive mechanisms that ultimately inform action; therefore, implicit, analog assessments are needed. The Parent-Child Aggression Acceptability Movie Task (P-CAAM; Rodriguez, Bower Russa, & Harmon 2011) is an implicit measure of parental acceptability of parent-child aggression. Employing this measure, a significant relation between acceptability of parent-child aggression and abuse risk was identified. Mothers with greater self-reported abuse risk endorsed greater acceptability of parent-child aggression on this implicit measure (Rodriguez et al., 2011). Individuals with greater abuse risk were less likely to differentiate between physical discipline and abuse, suggesting these individuals may be less vigilant to monitor their application of physical discipline strategies in a discipline encounter (Rodriguez et al., 2011).

No data yet examines these processes with fathers or considers potential cultural differences. Further, little research compares explicit and implicit measures of the same construct (cf., Rodriguez et al., 2012). In addition to increased use of implicit, covert methods, further comparative studies examining the connections between implicit and explicit assessments in a diverse sample is needed. This study seeks to address this

measurement concern by adopting a comprehensive approach while employing implicit and explicit methods of assessment

Current Study

The purpose of this study was to adopt an ecological framework and examine both individual ontological risk factors and culture-specific macrosystem level factors in the assessment of child physical maltreatment risk with expectant mothers and fathers. This model, as discussed in the literature review, emphasizes the transactional processes of distal and proximal variables observed in African American and White parents. The literature has demonstrated factors associated with racial socialization processes such as greater racial identification may buffer psychosocial distress in ethnic minority individuals (Belgrave & Allison, 2010; Miller, 1999). Given the salience of stress in exacerbating abuse-risk (Miller-Perrin, 2012; Whipple & Webster-Stratton, 1991), greater racial identification may act as a protective factor within the larger macrosystem. In addition, although fathers are increasingly involved in child-rearing practices (Cabrera, Tamis-LeMonda, Bradley, Hofferth, & Lamb, 2000; Dette-Hagenmeyer, Erzinger, & Reichle, 2014), little data effectively assesses the potential role of gender-specific factors such as gender-role egalitarian ideologies in decreased parental abuse risk for both mothers and fathers. Therefore, this study adopted a comprehensive approach by examining positive factors and ontological cognitive risk factors such as hostile attribution of child intent and definitions of child abuse as they relate to parental child abuse risk in a diverse sample of expectant parents. These risk factors were assessed

using both implicit and explicit methods in order to better capture concepts sensitive to misrepresentation.

Consequently, the goals of the proposed study were as follows:

- 1. A first goal of the study was to examine differences across racial groups while simultaneously examining the role of narrow definitions of abuse, attributions of intent and the culture-specific factor, racial identification, on child abuse risk. Specifically, parents with greater hostile attributions of child intent (cf., Berlin, Dodge, & Reznick, 2013) and restrictive definitions of physical abuse (wherein individuals who have a greater tolerance for parent-child aggression and who maintain a high standard for what is considered abuse; Rodriguez et al., 2011) were expected to demonstrate greater abuse risk and future harsh parenting. Greater racial identification was expected to relate to lower abuse risk in African American parents in particular. Given the literature emphasizing racial socialization as a strategy employed by African American parents to teach their children to cope with greater experiences of discrimination and negative outcomes (Brown, 2008), greater racial identification was predicted to be associated with lower child abuse risk for African American mothers and fathers but not predicted to be related to abuse risk for White parents (see Figure 1).
- 2. The second goal was to examine potential gender differences in abuse risk when examining definitions of abuse, attributions of child intent, and gender role ideologies as they relate to abuse risk. Maternal and paternal abuse risk was expected to be associated with egalitarian gender role attitudes, such that those with greater egalitarian gender role attitudes (i.e., less traditional gender views)

would be optimal (Shamir, Schudlich, & Cummings, 2001) and thus evidence lower abuse risk. The purpose of this goal is to examine gender differences alone, collapsing groups across race (i.e., the female group will include African American and White mothers). Literature suggests mothers and fathers' use of physical discipline strategies and risk profiles may be similar (e.g., Schaeffer et al., 2005), however, parenting styles often do not correspond between parents (e.g., Martin, Ryan & Brooks-Gunn, 2007). For example, one parent may act as the disciplinarian and more frequently engage in discipline encounters compared to the other parent (Straus & Stewart, 1999), thereby placing them at a greater risk for becoming physically abusive. Although mothers and fathers demonstrate synchrony with regard to parenting practices, mothers and fathers are predicted to differ with regard to individual-level cognitive risk factors (i.e. attributions of child intent and definitions of abuse) that impact their individual abuse risk (see Figure 2).

3. The third goal of the study was to extend recent literature incorporating implicit assessment of child maltreatment-related constructs by assessing the potential adjunct role of implicit measures when examining abuse risk with established explicit assessments. Implicit and explicit methods were used to assess hostile attributions of child intent and acceptability of parent-child aggression. Those who endorse negative attributions and more acceptance of parent-child aggression in both explicit and analog assessments, as opposed to explicit assessments alone, were hypothesized to significantly predict child abuse risk. This study's examination of gender differences in responses to the

methodological strategies (i.e., implicit vs. explicit) of both attributions about child behavior and definitions of parent-child aggression acceptance are exploratory.

CHAPTER 2

METHOD

Participants

Participants in this study consisted of 142 expectant mother-father dyads as part of a larger longitudinal study, the "Following First Families" (Triple-F) Study. Participants were recruited from socioeconomically diverse medical centers and hospitals in order to obtain a diverse sample representative of the Birmingham area. Table 1 presents demographic details for both mothers and fathers. Mothers' mean age was 26.77 years (SD = 5.44) with 57.7% of mothers identifying as White and 42.3% identifying as African American. Paternal mean age was 28.84 year (SD = 6.13), with 52.8% of fathers identifying as White and 47.2% as African American. On average, both mothers and fathers reported completing some college/technical school and a mean annual household income between \$40,000-49,999. A majority of participants reported they were currently in a relationship with their partner (98.2%) and 88.3% live together. With regard to employment status, 72.9% of all participants were currently employed and 27.1% of participants were receiving public assistance.

Procedure

Participants were recruited as part of a larger prospective longitudinal parenting study of pregnant mothers and their partners, the Triple F study. The overall aims of the Triple F study includes examination of contextual taxes and resources in conjunction with cognitive factors as they relate to parent-child aggression risk trajectories over time. The Triple F study evaluates Social Information Processing (SIP) cognitive factors as they

relate to those contextual factors and how SIP variables change over time following the birth of a child. The aims of the current study vary from the Triple F study in that the current study adopts a broader ecological perspective to include macrosystem level factors, examining culture-specific factors as they relate to child abuse risk. The current study shares an interest in addressing the gap in maltreatment literature with regard to paternal abuse risk models; therefore, this project sought to examine gender specific variables of individual abuse risk as well.

Data for the Triple F study are collected over a three-year period involving three time points. Time one involved data collection from first-time expectant mothers and fathers during the third trimester of their pregnancy. Time two of data collection occurred following the birth of the child when the child was 6 months old. Lastly, time three of data collection occurs when the child turns 18 months old. Data for the current study consist solely of participants collected during the first wave of the larger study.

Participants were collected through flyers distributed at local hospitals and birthing classes across the Birmingham area. Individuals interested in participating contacted the number provided on the flyer in order to determine eligibility for the study (first-time parents in the third trimester of their pregnancy) and arrange a time to participate either in an in-home or in-lab family assessment. Informed consent from mothers and fathers was obtained upon the start of the data collection session. Following the consenting procedure, participants were placed in a private area to complete self-reported questionnaires and analog measures on laptop computers (mother and fathers complete the study independently). Responses to items were automatically saved to the laptop database and only identified by the assigned participant number. The entire

protocol took approximately 2-3 hours to complete depending on the parents' reading level. Each parent received \$60 as compensation for participation in the first wave of the study.

Materials

Covariate Measures

Demographic Controls included: age; a measure of education which was ordinally coded on a 7-point scale with 1 representing "grade school" and 7 representing "post graduate school" completion; household annual income, also coded ordinally ranging from 1 (\$0-2,999) to 12 (\$100,000+). Additionally, participants reported their relationship status with the other parent in the study using a dichotomous scale by responding either yes/no to indicate current status at the time of the study.

Social Support Resources Index (Vaux & Harrison, 1985) includes a Social Satisfaction subscale, with10 items measuring the extent to which individuals feel satisfied by the two closest members of their social support system. Items are rated on a Likert scale (1= strongly disagree to 5 = strongly agree), with greater scores indicating higher sense of support. The measure has demonstrated high internal consistency of .88 (Vaux & Harrison, 1985). Internal consistency in the current sample yielded a Cronbach's alpha of .90 for mothers and .92 for fathers.

Parent Abuse-Risk Measures

Child Abuse Potential Inventory (CAPI; Milner, 1986) is a 160-item inventory measuring characteristics associated with identified abusers, using six subscales to

capture abuse risk (Distress, Rigidity, Unhappiness, Problems with Child and Self, Problems with Family, and Problems from Others). Only 77 variably weighted items comprise the Abuse Scale, and the remaining items acting as experimental scales or distortion indices. The CAPI was developed as a screening tool to assess the extent to which parents endorse factors identified in substantiated perpetrators. Items are answered in an Agree/Disagree format. Higher scores on the Abuse Scale are associated with greater risk for engaging in physical abuse. The measure shows reliability across age, gender, education level, and ethnic group, with internal consistency for the Abuse Scale ranging from .92 to .96 for both abusive and non-abusive populations (Milner, 1986). The measure has shown an accurate classification rate at 89.2% for predicting confirmed child abusers (Milner, Gold, & Wimberley, 1986).

Adult - Adolescent Parenting Inventory-2 (AAPI-2; Bavolek & Keene, 2001) is a 40-item measure that assesses the degree of agreement with parenting beliefs and behaviors regarding child rearing associated with abuse risk on a 5-point Likert scale. The measure examines four domains: Inappropriate Expectations, Lack of Empathy, Belief in Corporal Punishment, and Parent–Child Role Reversal. Scores are obtained by totaling ratings across items, with higher scores indicative of more negative parenting attitudes and beliefs. The measure has demonstrated high internal consistency for the AAPI-2 Total score at .85 (Conners, Whiteside-Mansell, Deere, Ledet, & Edwards, 2006). Internal consistency of the AAPI-2 Total score in the current sample yielded a Cronbach's alpha of .88 for mothers and .89 for fathers.

Future Parental Authority Questionnaire (FPAQ) was generated to assess expected parenting style. The original PAQ-R (Reitman, Rhode, Hupp, & Altobello,

2002) is a 30 item measure of parenting style. Items are scored on a 5-point Likert scale from Strongly Agree to Strongly Disagree (e.g. "I do not allow my children to question any decision I have made."). The PAQ-R is based on Baumrind's (1971) parenting styles designed to assess three styles: Authoritarian, Authoritative and Permissive. Therefore, the measure produces a total score for each of these styles. The PAQ-R has demonstrated moderate internal consistency for the three styles: $\alpha = .74$, authoritarian; $\alpha = .74$, permissive; α = .66, authoritative (Reitman et al., 2002). All 30 items from the Parental Authority Questionnaire-Revised were modified to reflect parenting strategies participants expected to use in the future. Similar to the PAQ-R, all items on the modified version are scored on a 5-point Likert scale from Strongly Agree to Strongly Disagree (e.g. "I will not allow my children to question any decision I have made."). A total score for each parenting style (Authoritarian, Authoritative and Permissive) is produced with total score oriented to convey more of that particular parenting style. The current study used the Authoritarian parenting score only as a predictor for abuse risk. Previous literature identified authoritarian as a maladaptive and "negative" style of parenting (Grolnick, 2013), associated with greater abuse risk and endorsements of harsh physical discipline strategies (Rodriguez, 2010). The reliability coefficient for the Authoritarian scale in the current sample was .79 for mothers and .82 for fathers.

Cultural Measures

Multigroup Ethnic Identity Measure (MEIM; Phinney, 1989) is a 20-item assessment of personal ethnic identity. The scale assess two aspects of an individual's identity: 1) Affirmation, Belonging and Commitment, a measure of belonging and positive attitudes associated with ones' ethnic group and 2) Ethnic Identity Search, the

amount of exploration of ethnic identity. Items are rated using a 4-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (strongly agree) to 4 (strongly disagree). The measure can be used with both adolescents and adults from any ethnic group. Example items include, "I have a clear sense of my ethnic background and what it means to me" and "I have spent time trying to find out more about my ethnic group, such as its history, traditions, and customs." Items are summed to create a total score, with higher scores demonstrating lower ethnic identification. The MEIM has demonstrated satisfactory reliability, with alpha = .84 (Phinney et al., 2001). The current study focused on use of the Affirmation/Belonging scale alone, due to the goals of the study focusing on assessing the role of positive attitudes related to ones' ethnic group. The alpha coefficient obtained for the current sample was comparable at .82 for mothers and .84 for fathers.

Sex Role Egalitarianism Scale-Short Form (SRES; King & King 1997) is a measure of attitudes toward the equality of men and women's roles. The SRES Short Form is a 25-item measure containing items addressing beliefs about both women and men assuming non-traditional roles (e.g., "Home economics courses should be as acceptable for male students as for female students"). The measure has 5 subscales measuring attitudes regarding (1) educational roles, (2) employment roles, (3) marital roles, (4) parental roles, and (5) social-interpersonal-heterosexual roles. Items are scored on a 5-point Likert Scale ranging from Strongly Agree to Strongly Disagree. A summary score is created by summing item responses, with higher values indicating more egalitarian attitudes. The SRES-Short Form has demonstrated high internal consistency, with alpha = .87 (Kingsbury & Coplan, 2012). The current sample demonstrated high internal consistency for mothers and fathers at .91 and .92, respectively.

Measures of Attribution Bias

Noncompliance Implicit Association Task (Noncompliance IAT; Rabbit, 2013) is an analog assessment of parental attributions toward children. The task is modeled after the original Implicit Association Test (Greenwald, 1998) examining automatic associations that can influence our attitudes and behaviors by rapidly measuring an individual's attitudes that are not accessible to awareness. Similar to the original task, the current measure is a computer-based task requiring participants to sort words (e.g. "pleasant", "temper tantrum") into two attributional categories (e.g. "good" and "bad" or "obeying" and "disobeying"). Faster ("speeded") response categorizations are considered more strongly associated attributions than slower responses. The Noncompliance IAT adopted for use in this study involves a series of seven trials. First, participants were presented with a nonbiased categorization practice phase requiring individuals to sort items into categories of insects and flowers in order to familiarize participants to the task. Then the Noncompliance IAT is administered wherein participants complete a similar sorting procedure categorizing words into compliance categories. During the first trial, participants sort words (e.g., "talk back," "tantrum," "cooperate," "pay attention) into either an "obey" or "disobey" category. Second, respondents sort attributional words (e.g., "terrible," beautiful") into a "good" or "bad" category. The third trial then presents both sets of categories (good/bad and obey/disobey) in a combined task and requires participants to sort the attributes from both categories. For example, "Obey/Good" will be presented on the left side of the screen and "Disobey/Bad" will be presented on the right side of the screen. Participants are still presented with a single word and asked to identify if the word belongs to the "Obey/Good" category or the "Disobey/Bad" category. The

fourth trial is a repetition of trial three. Trial five essentially repeats the first task, with the presentation of categories reversed. For example, if Obey was presented on the left side of the screen and Disobey was presented on the right side of the screen on trial one, trial five will present Disobey on the left side of the screen and Obey on the right side of the screen. Trial six is a repetition of trial three; however, the categories are reversed. For example, instead of "Obey/Good" appearing on the left side of the screen, trial six will present "Obey/Bad." Trial seven is a repetition of trial six. This Noncompliance IAT was scored using a standard algorithm that divides the difference between test block mean latency score by the standard deviation of all latencies with an error penalty, one of the recommended strategies for computing IAT scores (Greenwald, Nosek, & Banaji, 2003). Thus, a difference score is generated where higher scores indicate more negative child attributions.

The Plotkin Child Vignette (PCV; Plotkin, 1983) is a measure of parental attributions of child behaviors. The measure consists of 18 vignettes of child behavior in which parents are asked to imagine their own child was the one engaging in the presented behavior. Parents are then asked to rate the vignette for how much they believed their child acted to intentionally annoy them on a 9-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (my child did not mean to annoy me) to 9 (the only reason my child did this was to annoy me). In addition, parents are asked to rate their likelihood of punishing their child for the behavior exhibited in the vignette from 1 (I would not punish my child at all) to 9 (I would punish my child a great deal). Items are summed to create two subscale scores: 1) PCV Annoyance score and 2) PCV Likelihood to Punish score. Higher scores suggest greater attribution of children's intentional annoyance and greater likelihood to punish,

respectively. The attribution scale, PCV Annoyance, was of particular interest in this study. The measure has demonstrated satisfactory internal consistency for both subscales ($\alpha = 83$ for Annoyance and $\alpha = 84$ for Punish; Rodriguez et al., 2012). Reliability analyses for PCV Annoyance in the current sample yielded a Cronbach's alpha of .85 for mothers and .88 for fathers, demonstrating high internal consistency.

Definition/Acceptability of Abuse Measures

The Parent-Child Aggression Acceptability Movie Task (P-CAAM Task; Rodriguez et al., 2011) is an analog measure assessing participants' acceptability of physical discipline strategies. During the task, participants watch 90-sec movie clips from eight different movies depicting a parent engaged in either physical discipline or physical abuse. Participants are asked to stop the video if and when they consider the scene has become abusive. Response latency to stopping the clips are timed, with slower response times suggesting greater acceptability of abuse. The P-CAAM has demonstrated acceptable internal consistency with alpha = .77 (Rodriguez et al., 2011). The current sample demonstrated adequate reliability with alpha = .82 for mothers and .84 for fathers.

Physical Abuse Vignettes (Shanalingigwa, 2009) was used to assess a participant's definitions of abuse. The eight vignettes were modeled after those created by Giovannoni and Becerra (1979) and depict a wide range of parent-child aggression. Each vignette describes a physically aggressive parental action and a consequence to the child. A 4-point scale was used to assess the severity of the parent-child interaction ranging from (1) low to almost nothing to (4) extremely serious, and each vignette is rated independently of every other. In addition, for each item, participants are asked if they feel the behavior was maltreatment and if they feel the incident should be reported to

the authorities. The current study only used individual endorsement of maltreatment. Items were summed to create a total score, with higher scores indicating greater acceptability of physically abusive discipline strategies. The current sample yielded modest internal consistency with $\alpha = .53$ for mothers and .63 for fathers.

Data Analyses

Preliminary analyses were conducted using SPSS 20 for Windows. First, analyses were conducted to assess normality of individual variables of interest. Violations of normality were observed for three variables, CAPI total, N-IAT and Plotkin total. Both CAPI total and Plotkin total evidenced a positively skewed distribution as observed on scatterplots. N-IAT scores evidenced a negative skewed distribution. However, due to the robust nature of multivariate analyses, the raw scores were retained to maintain interpretability of findings.

After the potential need for covariates and simple bivariate relationships were examined, study hypotheses were examined using multiple regression in SPSS 20 and multivariate interdependent modeling in Mplus, version 5.0 (Muthén & Muthén, 2007). Multivariate analyses accounted for the complexity of dyadic data. Full information maximum likelihood estimation was used to estimate the models, with the missing data option used to make full use of all available data. Overall, rates of missing data across scales were low (<5%); therefore, missing values were addressed using mean replacement. Given the sample size as it relates to available model parameters, measure scores were standardized and summed to create composite variables for Abuse Risk

(CAPI, APPI, Future Authoritarian), Attribution of Child Intent (Plotkin and N-IAT) and Acceptability of Abuse (PCAAM and Vignettes Definitions of Abuse scale).

Multiple regression analyses were used to examine racial differences in abuse risk in African American and White parents as they relate to variables of interest (Attribution Style, Acceptability of Abuse, and Racial Identity). Two separate models were created, one examining White parents' attributions of child intent, acceptability of abuse and racial identity as it related to abuse risk. Second, a model was created to examine the aforementioned factors as they relate to African American abuse risk. Initial analyses of the regression models were structured as follows: potential demographic controls (income, age, education, relationship status, and social support) were entered at Block 1, followed by Attribution, Acceptability of Abuse, and Racial Identity entered at Block 2. Consideration of multicollinearity diagnostics confirmed that all variables across all regressions demonstrated robust tolerance, with no evident multicollinearity (all VIFs < 2).

Second, an Actor-Partner Interdependence Model (APIM) was created to examine gender differences with regard to abuse risk while accounting for potential partner shared variance. Traditionally, research examining dyads has focused on examining each member of a couple individually, by assessing one's own behaviors or attitudes. However, this approach does not consider the dependency and potential impact of one individual on another's behavior. APIM allows the simultaneous and independent examination of the effect of an individual's score on their own dependent variable of interest (an actor effect) as well as how their individual score relates to another's dependent variable of interest (a partner effect) (Kashy et al., 2000; Cook & Kenny,

2005). Actor, partner, and actor by partner interaction effects are estimated simultaneously, controlling for one another. In effect, this approach recognizes that the dyad is an interpersonal nested system and that both people need to be considered simultaneously (see Figure 2). Goodness of fit indices were examined to evaluate the strength of the observed model. This was done through the use of chi-square, root mean square error of approximation (RMSEA), comparative fit index (CFI) and standardized root mean square residual (SRMR) analyses.

CHAPTER 3

RESULTS

Normative Comparisons

To characterize the sample, obtained scores were first compared with normative means for the outcome variables of interest. In the current sample, White mothers obtained a mean CAPI Abuse scale score of 69.09 (SD = 62.49), which is representative of low maternal abuse risk (lower than the normative mean of 91.0; Milner, 1986). White mothers also reported a mean AAPI-2 score of 145.53 (SD = 15.42), which is near the normative range for females (146-153, oriented in the original scoring with higher scores reflecting lower abuse risk; Bavolek & Keene, 2001). In contrast, African American mothers endorsed a mean CAPI Abuse scale score of 115.47 (SD = 75.84), higher than the normative mean of 91.0. In addition, African American mothers reported a mean AAPI-2 score of 128.82 (SD = 18.30), which is lower than the normative range of 146-153, wherein lower scores are indicative of higher abuse risk (Bavolek & Keene, 2001). Caucasian mothers attained a mean Future Authoritarian PAQ score of 33.44 (SD = 5.99) whereas African American mothers had a mean score of 35.33 (SD = 6.75) on the Future PAQ Authoritarian scale. No normative information, however, is available for comparison with the obtained Future PAQ Authoritarian scores.

White fathers reported a CAPI Abuse scale score of 64.59 (SD = 45.20) and an AAPI- 2 score of 140.68 (SD = 18.72), both within the normative range. African American fathers obtained a mean CAPI abuse scale score of 112.10 (SD = 62.59), which is higher than the normative mean. African American fathers also endorsed AAPI-2 mean score of 120.61 (SD = 16.00), which falls below the identified normative range for males

(134-140; Bavolek & Keene, 2001), representative of high paternal abuse risk. White fathers obtained a mean Future PAQ Authoritarian score of 33.19 (SD = 6.93) and African American fathers obtained a mean Future Authoritarian PAQ of 35.97 (SD = 6.19).

Subgroup Demographic Comparisons

Demographic comparisons were conducted to examine subgroup differences across variables of interest on participant's age, income, education and social support. With regard to gender, mothers and fathers significantly differed in age, wherein fathers were significantly older than mothers (see Table 1). Mothers and fathers did not significantly differ in reported income, education and social support. Analyses examining racial differences revealed African American and White parents significantly differed across all demographic variables of interest. White parents were significantly older, reported a higher annual income, higher education level and more social support than African American participants.

Mothers' Demographic Analyses

Preliminary analyses were conducted to examine the need for statistical controls. For mothers, education, income, age, social support and relationship status were negatively correlated with abuse risk measures of AAPI-2 Total scores and CAPI Abuse Scale scores (see Table 3). Mothers' lower educational attainment, income, and age were associated with greater abuse risk. Future Authoritarian PAQ was not significantly correlated with any demographic variables for mothers. With regard to cultural variables of interest related to gender, education, income, social support and age were positively correlated with mothers' reported gender role ideologies, wherein greater egalitarian

gender role ideologies were related to greater social support and higher education and income level. Mothers' reported greater racial identification was only significantly related to lower educational level.

Fathers' Demographic Analyses

Similarly, fathers' education, income, age and relationship status were inversely correlated with abuse risk measures of AAPI-2 Total scores and CAPI Abuse Scale scores (see Table 4). Education was also significantly inversely correlated to fathers' Future Authoritarian PAQ, such that lower education level was associated with greater anticipated authoritarian parenting. Fathers reported social support was only negatively correlated to CAPI scores. Similar to maternal report, fathers' reported gender role ideologies were positively correlated with education, income, social support and age. Fathers' greater racial identification was only significantly related to greater social support.

Gender Comparisons

Paired t-test analyses were conducted to assess group mean differences based on sex and independent sample t-tests to assess mean differences by race across variables of interest (see Table 2). A significant mean difference was found between mothers and fathers on AAPI-2 Total score (t (141) = -3.88, $p \le .01$), wherein mothers reported a significantly lower mean score (M = 101.52, SD = 18.59) than fathers (M = 108.19, SD = 19.89). Greater scores on the AAPI-2 Total were coded in this study to represent greater negative at-risk parenting. Therefore, in the current sample, fathers reported greater at-risk parenting beliefs. Mean differences were not found between mothers and fathers with regard to CAPI Abuse Scale and Future Authoritarian PAQ scores. With regard to gender

differences on cultural measures of interest, mean differences were found between mothers and fathers on gender role ideologies (t (141) = 5.95, $p \le .001$), but not on racial identity (t (141) = -.19, p > .05). Mothers reported significantly higher (M = 106.07, SD = 15.22) SRES scores than fathers (M = 98.16 SD = 17.50), suggesting more egalitarian gender role ideologies compared to their partners.

Racial Comparisons

Significant group differences were also noted between African American and White parents with regard to racial identity (t (282) = 3.92, $p \le .001$) and gender role ideologies (t (282) = 6.65, $p \le .001$). African American parents reported a significantly lower racial identity mean score ($M = 12.50 \ SD = 5.18$) than White parents ($M = 14.81 \ SD = 4.70$). Lower racial identity mean scores are suggestive of greater endorsements of the construct; therefore, African American parents reported a greater sense of affirmation, belonging and commitment to their racial group when compared to White parents.

Conversely, White parents reported significantly higher egalitarian gender role ideologies (*M*= 107.69 *SD*= 13.42) than African American parents (*M*= 95.22 *SD*= 18.11).

Preliminary Correlational Analyses of Outcome Variables

Initially, correlations between variables of interest were examined as they relate to maternal and paternal measures of abuse risk. Furthermore, intercorrelations between implicit and explicit measures of similar constructs were examined.

Maternal report

See Table 3 for detailed correlations between maternal variables of interest. As expected, all maternal abuse-risk measures were significantly intercorrelated. With regard to measures of acceptability of abuse, mothers' self-reported definitions of abuse and implicit analog measure of acceptability were significantly correlated. Conversely, implicit and explicit measures of attribution, as measured by the N-IAT and Plotkin Attribution self-report, were not significantly correlated. Mothers' reported abuse risk measures varied in relation to the other variables of interest. AAPI-2 Total scores were significantly correlated with all variables of interest. Refer to Table 3 for details regarding directionality. Mothers' reported CAPI Abuse Scale scores were significantly correlated with all measures of interest with the exception of racial identity and both implicit and explicit acceptability of abuse. Future Authoritarian PAQ was significantly correlated with all measures of interest except mothers' obtained N-IAT scores and explicit definitions of abuse.

Paternal Report

With regard to paternal variables of interest (see Table 4), fathers' reported abuse risk measures were not all intercorrelated. Fathers' AAPI-2 scores were correlated with both Future PAQ and CAPI Abuse Scale score; however, CAPI Abuse Scale scores and Future PAQ were not correlated with one another. With regard to intercorrelations between measures of attributions and definitions of abuse, similar to maternal report, implicit and explicit measures of acceptability of abuse (PCAAM and definition of abuse vignettes) were significantly inversely correlated; however, measures of attributions (N-IAT and Plotkin Annoyance) were not significantly related. Unlike maternal report, paternal reported AAPI-2 Total scores did not significantly correlate with all measures of interest. Paternal AAPI-2 Total scores did not correlate with racial identity scores.

Paternal CAPI Abuse Scale scores differed from maternal findings; CAPI Abuse Scale scores only significantly correlated to paternal gender role ideologies and measures of attributions (Plotkin Annoyance and N-IAT). Fathers' Future Authoritarian PAQ correlated with all variables of interest with the exception of N-IAT scores.

Multivariate Analyses Examining Racial Differences

Separate hierarchical multiple regression analyses were performed to determine the unique roles of Attributions of Child Intent, Acceptability of Abuse, and Racial Identity in predicting parental Abuse Risk in White and African American parents. As noted above, regression models consisted of demographic controls (age, income, education, relationship status, and social support) in Block 1, followed by predictors in

Block 2. Tables 5 and 6 present the summary of regression models for White and African American parents, respectively. The full model results are reported in this section.

With regard to White parents, the full model results in an R^2 = .40, F(8, 148)= 12.25, p < .01 (see Table 5). White parents' reported attributions of child intent significantly related to individual abuse risk after controlling for potential covariates. An association was not found between White parents' acceptability of abuse and abuse risk beyond demographic controls. White parents' reported racial identity was found to directly relate to greater parental abuse risk (see Figure 3). Contrary to hypotheses, for African American parents, however, racial identity did not significantly relate to individual abuse risk beyond demographic controls. The full model for African American parents obtained an R^2 = .35, F(8, 118)= 7.90, p < .01 (see Table 6). Similar to White parents, only attributions of child intent was found to have a significant relation to individual abuse risk in African American parents when controlling for demographic covariates. African American parents' reported acceptability of abuse remained nonsignificant (see Figure 4).

Actor-Partner Analyses Examining Gender Differences

Actor-Partner Interdependence Modeling (APIM) was used to test the proposed model examining gender role ideology as it relates to abuse risk between mothers and fathers for the second goal of the study. This model simultaneously tests the unique contributions of self-reported abuse risk, partner-reported abuse risk, individual attributions, acceptability of abuse, and self-reported gender role ideology for both mothers and fathers. Each of the three predictors was correlated with the partner-reported

corresponding predictor (i.e. maternal attribution was correlated with paternal attribution). In addition, maternal and paternal abuse risk composites were correlated. First, a full model was created containing all covariates of interest to include age, income, education, relationship status and social support. Model fit indices for the full model suggested poor fit. Chi square analyses of overall fit of the observed model resulted in a significant Chi square statistic $\chi 2=1179.48$, p <.01 ($df_M=131$). However, a significant test statistic is suggestive of poor model fit. With regard to RMSEA, the current model obtained an RMSEA = 0.24 (90% CI 0.23 -.25; p <.05) and is also indicative of poor fit to the data. In addition, the CFI index was examined to compare the proposed model to a null/baseline model. Higher scores indicate greater fit. The current model obtained a CFI= .14 thereby demonstrating poor model fit in comparison to the null/baseline model. Lastly, the current model obtained an SRMR index score of 0.29, indicative of poor fit.

A second actor-partner model was created to assess model differences with a more parsimonious model that included only significant covariates to include social support and education. Goodness of fit statistics suggest a slightly better fitting model. Chi square analyses of overall fit of the observed model resulted in a significant chi square statistic $\chi 2=212.33$, p <.01 ($df_M=50$). As noted above, a significant test statistic is suggestive of poor model fit. With regard to RMSEA, the current model obtained an RMSEA = 0.15 (90% CI 0.13 -.17; p <.05) and is also indicative of poor fit to the data. The current model obtained a CFI= .49 thereby demonstrating poor model fit in comparison to the null/baseline model. Lastly, the SRMR for this second model is 0.20 and demonstrates poor model fit. Overall, this model is significantly different from the

full model; however, the model continues to evidence poor fit. Therefore, it is not appropriate to interpret mean differences using this model.

A third model examining only independent variables of interest as they relate to mothers' and fathers' abuse risk was analyzed. This third model yielded a chi square statistic χ 2=40.26, p < .05 (df_M = 16). A significant test statistic is suggestive of poor model fit. With regard to RMSEA, the current model obtained an RMSEA = 0.10 (90% CI 0.06 -.14; p < .05) and is also indicative of poor fit to the data. The current model obtained a CFI= .82 thereby demonstrating slightly better model fit in comparison to the null/baseline model. Lastly, the SRMR for this second model is 0.11 and demonstrates poor model fit as well.

Due to poor fit indices observed in the aforementioned models, a fourth model was created removing nonsignificant relations between mothers' and fathers' attributions and between maternal and parental acceptability of abuse. The significant correlation between maternal and paternal gender role ideologies was retained. This model yielded a chi square statistic χ 2=28.07, p < .05 (df_M = 12). The current model obtained an RMSEA = 0.10 (90% CI 0.05 -.14; p < .05), a CFI= .88, and SRMR of 0.08. This fourth model demonstrated moderate fit and was the best fitting model relative to the previous three models. Results relating to maternal and paternal abuse risk will be interpreted based on findings from this model as depicted in Figure 5.

Figure 5 presents the abuse risk APIM for mothers and fathers. For mothers, negative attributions of child intent were directly and significantly related to greater abuse risk. Fathers' reported attributions of child intent were not significantly related to fathers' individual abuse risk. Conversely, mothers' and fathers' acceptability of physical

discipline strategies was not significantly related to abuse risk. Both mothers' and fathers' gender role ideologies inversely related to individual abuse risk, wherein less egalitarian gender ideologies related to greater individual abuse risk. Furthermore, significant partner effects were observed with regard to gender role ideologies and both maternal and paternal abuse risk. Fathers' reported gender role ideologies significantly related to maternal abuse risk and mothers' reported gender role ideologies significantly related to paternal abuse risk.

Implicit vs. Explicit Measures

Analyses were conducted to assess the adjunct nature of implicit measures with already established explicit measures. First, a model was performed containing only explicit measures of attribution (Plotkin Annoyance), acceptability of abuse (Definitions of Abuse Vignettes), and variables of interest (racial identity and gender role ideologies) assessing the relation with the Abuse Risk composite. Second, a model was created containing both aforementioned explicit measures, as well as implicit measures (N-IAT and PCAAM) and variables of interest (racial identity and gender role ideologies). Lastly, exploratory analyses were conducted to examine a model containing implicit measures alone with variables of interest (racial identity and gender role ideologies) as they relate to individual abuse risk. This was completed separately for mothers and fathers to examine potential gender differences.

Maternal Implicit v. Explicit Measurement Models

First, a model was created containing maternal only explicit measures of attributions, definitions of abuse and gender role ideologies. Model fit indices for the

model suggested poor fit. Chi square analyses of overall fit of the observed model resulted in a significant chi square statistic $\chi 2=23.62$, p <.01 ($df_M=3$), suggestive of poor model fit. With regard to RMSEA, the current model obtained an RMSEA = 0.22 (90% CI 0.14 -.31; p <.05) and is also indicative of poor fit to the data. In addition, the CFI was examined to compare the proposed model to a null/baseline model. Higher scores indicate greater fit. The current model obtained a CFI= .79 thereby demonstrating moderate model fit in comparison to the null/baseline model. Lastly, the current model obtained an SRMR index score of 0.14, indicative of moderate fit.

A second model was created containing both explicit and implicit measures of attributions of intent and acceptability of physical discipline as well as, gender role ideologies. The model yielded a chi square statistic χ 2= 55.07, p <.01 (df_M = 10), RMSEA = 0.18 (90% CI 0.14 -.23; p <.05), CFI= .60, suggestive of poor fit. However, the model obtained an SRMR index score of 0.14, indicative of moderate fit.

Based on aforementioned analyses, the model containing explicit measures alone was a better fitting model, evidencing moderate fit. Further exploratory analyses were conducted to examine fit for a model containing implicit measures alone. These analyses yielded a model chi square statistic $\chi 2=23.58$, p <.01 ($df_M=3$), RMSEA = 0.22 (90% CI 0.14 -.31; p <.05), CFI= .66, suggestive of poor fit. However, the model obtained an SRMR index score of 0.12, indicative of moderate fit. Overall, findings for mothers suggest a model containing explicit measures alone is the best fitting model, in which implicit measures did not significantly improve model fit.

Paternal Implicit v. Explicit Measurement Models

A second set of models was created to examine the role of implicit and explicit measures as they relate to paternal report. First a model containing explicit measures alone was examined. This model obtained a chi square statistic $\chi 2 = 10.04$, p < .05 (d $f_{\rm M} =$ 3), suggestive of poor fit. However, the current model yielded an RMSEA = 0.13 (90%) CI 0.05 -.22; p >.05), CFI= .91, and an SRMR index score of 0.09, indicative of good model fit. Next, a second model was created to assess the adjunct role of implicit measures with regard to paternal report and included both explicit and implicit measures as well as gender role ideologies. This model yielded a chi square statistic χ 2= 59.58, p $<.01 \text{ (d}f_{M} = 10)$, RMSEA = 0.19 (90% CI 0.14 -.23; p <.05), CFI= .38, and an SRMR= 0.13 suggestive of moderate fit. Lastly, exploratory analyses were created to examine a model containing implicit measures alone. This model obtained a chi square statistic χ2= 16.73, p <.01 ($df_M = 3$), RMSEA = 0.18 (90% CI 0.10 -.27; p <.05), suggestive of poor fit. However, the model obtained a CFI= .78 and an SRMR index score of 0.11 suggestive of moderate fit. Similar to mothers, findings for fathers suggest a best fitting model to include explicit measures alone. The model containing implicit measures in addition to explicit measures significantly worsened model fit, but suggested moderate fit for fathers. Therefore, there were no significant observed gender differences as both mothers and fathers appeared to evidence best fitting models to include explicit measures alone.

CHAPTER 4

DISCUSSION

The current study sought to examine physical abuse risk in first-time expectant mothers and fathers. The study adopted an ecological approach to examining abuse risk by assessing both proximal and distal factors beyond the traditional focus on intraindividual processes alone. Specifically, proximal, individual-level risk factors such as attributions of negative child intent and definitions of abuse were examined in conjunction with distal, cultural protective factors such as gender role ideologies and racial identification. These specific factors were targeted 1) to address the relative gap in extant literature assessing nuances of cultural differences with regard to abuse risk and, 2) due to the mixed literature regarding contributions of these risk factors in mothers and fathers. Previous literature has also primarily focused on maternal samples; therefore, models assessing paternal abuse risk are less clear. The current study sought to extend the literature and examine these aforementioned factors in fathers as well as mothers while assessing for gender differences related to the variables of interest.

First, the present study examined racial differences in abuse risk and hypothesized both negative attributions of child intent and greater acceptability of parent-child aggression would relate to greater abuse risk in African American and White parents.

Racial identity was also hypothesized to demonstrate a protective role in African American families to thereby evidence lower abuse risk. A significant relation between White parents' racial identity and abuse risk was not predicted. A second goal of the

study was to examine potential gender differences in abuse risk and examine the relation between attributions of child intent and acceptability of abuse on both maternal and paternal abuse risk. Greater negative attributions of child intent and more acceptable definitions of abuse were expected to relate to greater abuse risk in both mothers and fathers. Additionally, this study examined the potential protective role of egalitarian gender role ideologies as they relate to parenting. Greater egalitarian gender role ideologies were predicted to relate to lower abuse risk in both mothers and fathers.

Lastly, methodological concerns in the extant literature were addressed by examining variables of interest using both implicit and explicit methods of assessment. It was hypothesized that models utilizing both implicit and explicit measures would best predict child abuse risk versus models containing either implicit or explicit measures alone. The following discussion will summarize results addressing these three aforementioned goals and then focus on clinical and empirical implications.

The proposed hypotheses of the study were partially supported. The overall findings contributed to the aims of the study in examining potential gender and racial differences with regard to abuse risk and underscored the importance of assessing macrolevel cultural factors as they relate to individual risk. The present findings indicate differences between African American and White parents with regard to the role of racial identity on abuse risk. Furthermore, findings suggest potential gender differences with regard to individual-level predictors of abuse risk, but a shared buffering role of gender role ideologies on both maternal and paternal abuse risk. The ensuing discussion focuses first on examining both risk and protective factors across racial groups then between

mothers and fathers. Lastly, the discussion will assess the role of implicit methodology in measuring constructs of interest as they relate to abuse risk.

Findings for White Parents

As noted above, the current study sampled African American and White expectant mothers and fathers from the greater Birmingham area. Sample statistics suggest group differences with regard to variables of interest by race. White parents reported lower abuse risk scores on the CAPI and AAPI-2 when compared to African American parents. Furthermore, White parents abuse risk scores were consistent with normative means for each abuse risk measure, suggesting the current sample of White parents was comparable to a community low-risk sample. With regard to demographic differences, White parents were significantly older, reported higher income, and reported higher educational attainment than African American parents. These contextual factors play a significant role with regard to the quality of parenting, practices, and beliefs. Past literature identifies a relation between education and abuse risk, such that those with higher educational attainment have a greater fund of knowledge with regard to discipline strategies and more adaptive parenting practices (Black et al., 2001). In addition, higher education is associated with greater access to economic resources, which mitigates financial distress (Krieger et al., 1997).

With regard to cultural variables of interest, White parents were found to endorse greater egalitarian gender role ideologies. Less traditional gender role ideologies are suggestive of greater shared child-rearing responsibilities, which are important for reducing maternal stress (Kalil, Ziol-Guest, & Coley, 2005). Stress is a well-established

predictor of abuse-risk in parents (Miller-Perrin, 2012; Whipple & Webster-Stratton, 1991); therefore, families in which egalitarian attitudes are endorsed, and child-rearing responsibilities are shared, may demonstrate lower abuse risk. Findings demonstrated racial differences with regard to racial identity, such that White parents endorsed significantly lower racial identification compared to African American parents. These results will be discussed further in upcoming sections examining multivariate model results.

Multivariate regression analyses were conducted to examine abuse risk in White parents. A regression model was created examining the relation between attributions of child intent, definitions of abuse and racial identity on abuse risk while controlling for age, education, income, relationship status, and social support. The regression model suggested a direct relation between attributions of child intent and abuse risk for White parents such that greater negative attributions of children's intentions were related to higher abuse risk. These findings were consistent with proposed hypotheses and previous literature identifying a relation between parental negative attributions of intent and self-reported abuse risk (Leung & Slep, 2006). This factor is important to examine given the significant relation between prenatal negative attributions of intent and later implementation of harsh physical discipline strategies (Bugental & Happaney, 2004).

Negative attributions of a child's behavior can result in biases that do not allow a parent to effectively consider alternative interpretations for a child's transgressions before selecting a discipline strategy (Milner, 2003).

Findings examining acceptability of child abuse in White parents were inconsistent with hypotheses, demonstrating a nonsignificant relation with abuse risk.

Extant literature examining this construct offers mixed results. Some studies have identified a relation between high abuse risk individuals and their acceptability of parentchild aggression (Bower-Russa, 2005; Rodriguez et al., 2011); whereas, other studies have not found significant differences between high and low risk groups (Kelley, 1992; Trickett & Susman, 1988). This inconsistency in present findings with past literature may be due to the methodology used in assessing the construct. Past literature has focused on the use of either a self-reported questionnaire or an implicit measure of assessment alone. Studies have not utilized a combination of both implicit and explicit measures to assess acceptability of discipline strategies. Further research is needed to clarify this relation. Additionally, the current study implemented a less established self-report measure of definitions of abuse, in which individuals were explicitly asked to indicate if they believed vignettes of parent-child aggression were abusive. Individuals were possibly responding in a socially desirable manner due to the transparency of the explicit measure. The current findings suggest a need for further examination of individual acceptability of abuse as it relates to parental factors. Furthermore, there is continued need for development of sound measures assessing the construct.

Contrary to proposed hypotheses, a significant negative relation was found between White parents' reported racial identity and abuse risk, such that greater racial identity was associated with greater abuse risk. Proposed hypotheses predicted a significant relation only for African American parents due to previous literature suggesting racial socialization processes and racial pride are associated with positive outcomes in African American psychosocial well-being (Brown, 2008; Coard et al., 2004; Thornton et al., 1990). However, a significant relation was not hypothesized in

White parents. Due to greater economic advantages of White privilege, White families are not often required to racially socialize their children the same way ethnic minority families must in order to promote cultural pride and preparation for racial discrimination. Rather, previous research has suggested White identity or privilege is often invisible to many White Americans, especially those with limited contact with ethnic minorities (Delgado & Stefancic, 1997; Leonardo, 2002). Traditionally, the literature has often viewed "White" as an unmarked identity or normative comparison group, similar to classifications of heterosexuality (Brekhus, 1998). Contrary to other ethnic minority groups, White individuals are not confronted with their race daily. Past literature has demonstrated that White individuals fail to see a connection between systemic structural advantages and racial identity (Lipsitz, 2005; Duster, 2001) and rather view "Whiteness" as normative. Therefore, the current study did not anticipate a significant relation between White parents' racial identity and at-risk parenting attitudes. However, contemporary research has suggested White racial identity should be further explored as it may vary based on contextual factors, such that identity does not consist of uniform privilege but rather, a complex social identity dependent on the context in which the individual resides. Some contemporary research has examined racial socialization practices in White families and how they disseminate patterns of privilege and power to their children (Brown & Lesane-Brown, 2006; Grossman & Charmaraman, 2009; Twine & Gallagher, 2007; Umana-Taylor & Guimond, 2012). Of these studies, findings are varied and suggest a number of complexities with regard to the context of such practices, including parental education and socioeconomic status. Findings from the current study identified greater racial identity in White parents significantly related to greater abuse

risk. Furthermore, the relation was found even after controlling for demographic variables of interest. This further underscores the need for additional research examining the nature of White racial identity as a construct rather than simply a comparison group. Low White racial identity may serve as a risk factor for abuse risk; therefore, underscoring the need to identify ways to strengthen this construct as it relates to parenting; however, literature examining this relation is limited and requires further attention.

Findings for African American Parents

Preliminary analyses revealed African American mothers and fathers endorsed greater abuse risk scores on the CAPI and AAPI-2 compared to White parents. These scores were also higher than normative means for each measure and consistent with previous literature demonstrating ethnic minority parents often endorse greater abuse risk related to culturally prescribed parenting practices (Ferrari, 2002). Past studies have suggested African American parents hold more positive attitudes with regard to the use of corporal punishment as a discipline strategy (Lansford et al., 2004) and African American children are spanked more often than White children (Wissow, 2001). With regard to demographic differences, African American and White parents significantly differed across age, income, education and social support. African American parents reported significantly lower age, income and education. Demographic differences can likely be attributed to overrepresentation of ethnic minorities in impoverished communities with limited resources potentially contributing to socioeconomic distress in an individual and ultimately impacting parenting attitudes and practices (Sedlak et al., 2010). For example,

lower educational attainment is often associated and used as a proxy for lower household income and socioeconomic status (Sedlak et al., 2010). Macrolevel socioeconomic factors are considered one of the strongest predictors of abuse risk, such that lower SES is associated with greater abuse risk (Drake & Jonson-Reid, 2013). Regarding age, previous literature suggests younger parents are at greater risk for engaging in physically abusive discipline practices due to immaturity, lack of resources, education, and lower income (Connelley & Straus, 1992).

Additionally, African American parents were also observed to endorse more traditional gender role ideologies when compared to White parents who identified greater egalitarian roles. This finding is inconsistent with previous literature that suggests gender role attitudes are less traditional for African Americans (Kane, 2000), because African American mothers are less likely to be economically dependent on men (O'Hare et al., 1991). Extant literature also indicates that African Americans are generally more liberal and tolerant of working mothers when compared to White women (Buchanan & Selmon, 2008).

Multivariate regression analyses were conducted to examine the relation between attributions of child intent, definitions of abuse, and racial identify on abuse risk while controlling for age, education, income, relationship status and social support for African-American families. Findings partially support the hypotheses and are similar to White parents demonstrating a direct relation between attributions of child intent and abuse risk for African American parents, such that, greater negative attributions of children's intentions were related to higher abuse risk. As reported above, this finding is consistent with previous research identifying ethnic minority parents' use of corporal punishment

when negatively attributing children's intent (Burchinal, Skinner, Reznick, 2010). Regarding attributions, current findings suggest a significant relation for both African American and White parents suggesting this may be a cognitive mechanism by which individual across racial groups are placed at a heightened risk. Universal parenting interventions that are implemented across racial groups should consider targeting cognitive restructuring as it relates to children's misbehavior and promote parents to consider alternative explanations before implementing a disciplinary response.

Contrary to expectations, the model identified a nonsignificant relation between African American parents' reported acceptability of child maltreatment, or definitions of abuse and individual abuse risk. This finding is consistent with results for White parents in the current study. However, previous literature has suggested African American parents often hold more positive views about corporal punishment as a discipline strategy (Jambunathan, Burts & Pierce, 2000), thereby indicating more acceptability with regard to parent-child aggression. As noted above, current findings may be related to the methodology used to measure the construct, therefore, underscoring the need for further explicit measures of acceptability of abuse.

Contrary to the proposed hypothesis, a direct relation was not found with regard to African American racial identity and abuse risk. The proposed hypothesis predicted a negative relation, such that greater racial identity was expected to relate to lower abuse risk in African American parents. However, this significant relation was not found in the current study. Racial identification as a construct falls within the larger framework of racial socialization, a process by which African American parents educate their children and promote cultural pride, kinship, and preparation for discrimination and racism

(Brown, 2008; Coard et al., 2004; Peters, 1985). Few studies have examined factors regarding racial socialization as they relate to parenting practices. Existing literature has demonstrated moderate racial socialization in mothers is related to greater positive parenting compared to mothers who exhibit high or low racial socialization (Frabutt, Walker & Mackinnon-Lewis, 2002). In the current study and as predicted, African American parents as a whole endorsed significantly greater racial identity when compared to White parents. However, racial identity did not significantly relate to parenting attitudes above and beyond demographic variables of interest. It may be possible the current African American sample's racial identification may not be serving as a protective factor related to abuse risk. Previous studies have suggested individuals who reside in neighborhoods with high concentrations of African Americans are less likely to actively engage in racial socialization practices than parents who live in more racially diverse neighborhoods (Thornton et al., 1990). The greater Birmingham area consists of a high populations of both African American and White individuals; however, neighborhoods are heavily concentrated by race (City of Birmingham Development Department, 2014). If a majority of African Americans in the sample reside in high concentration neighborhoods, this regional factor may provide some explanation for the observed nonsignificant findings. Therefore, future research should examine this finding while considering contextual neighborhood demographic characteristics as they relate to abuse risk. Further, additional interventions can be informed by examining the relation between racial identity and abuse risk across regions of the country in order to evaluate potential differences associated with parental abuse risk by region.

Findings for Mothers

Overall, gender differences were not found on demographic variables of interest. However, a significant relation was found such that mothers' lower educational attainment, income, and age were associated with abuse risk. These associations are consistent with previous literature discussed above suggesting demographic characteristics can significantly contribute to individual distress and abuse risk. Regarding abuse risk measures, gender differences were found only on the AAPI-2, wherein, mothers reported significantly lower abuse risk than fathers. Differences were not observed on the CAPI Abuse Scale and Future Authoritarian measures.

When examining cultural factors of interest, mothers and fathers did not differ in their endorsements of racial identity; however, mother's lower racial identification was related to greater educational attainment. This finding is contrary to expectation as it was predicted that higher education may relate to more exposure and fund of knowledge with regard to other cultures thereby contributing to a more securely racially identified individual. Additionally, mothers significantly differed from fathers in their gender role attitudes, endorsing more egalitarian attitudes and less traditional roles. These findings are consistent with past literature that suggests women often hold more egalitarian ideologies regarding gender (Bryant, 2003). Continued progress and more positive focus on the feminism movement in society over the years may explain this finding by encouraging women to move out of traditional roles to become autonomous individuals. Further, mothers' egalitarian gender role ideologies were related to greater educational attainment. This is consistent with previous literature that suggests individuals who have higher educational attainment have more egalitarian gender roles (Crompton & Lyonette,

2005) likely due to more exposure in the education system to both male and female role models and greater opportunities to confront stereotype myths (Brooks & Bolzendahl, 2004). Additionally, higher education affords opportunities for higher paying jobs and the ability for both men and women to contribute to the family financially (Raley, Mattingly, & Bianchi, 2006).

Actor-Partner Structural Equation Modeling was conducted to examine maternal abuse risk while controlling for dyadic effects of paternal abuse risk and attitudes. Four models were created to examine variables of interest (attributions of child intent, acceptability of abuse, and gender role ideologies) for each parent. First, a model was created examining variables of interest while controlling for age, education, income, relationship status and social support. This model was a poor fitting model; therefore, a second model was created containing social support and education, and demographic variables that were significant in the larger model containing the aforementioned variables of interest. However, once again the model demonstrated poor fit and was not retained. A third model was created containing independent variables only; however, the model continued to demonstrate poor fit; therefore a fourth model was created containing only significant covariance paths and independent variables of interest.

Findings in the present study partially support the hypotheses and vary based on gender. For mothers, as predicted, negative attributions of child's intent was significantly related to greater abuse risk. This is consistent with the proposed hypotheses and past literature discussed above, identifying a relation between high parental abuse risk and greater likelihood to attribute children's misbehavior as intentional (Ateah & Durrant, 2005).

Contrary to expectations, findings in the current study did not identify a significant relation between maternal reported acceptability of parent-child aggression and individual abuse risk. Greater acceptability of physical discipline strategies in mothers was predicted to place them at a higher risk for engaging in physically abusive discipline strategies.

With regard to gender role ideologies, as hypothesized, maternal egalitarian gender role ideologies were inversely correlated with individual abuse risk. More traditional gender ideologies, wherein mothers are considered caregivers and fathers are viewed as breadwinners, were related to higher abuse risk. A possible explanation for this finding may be that traditional households may value patriarchy and masculinity, such that families with these attitudes may endorse stereotypically masculine behaviors to include aggression and dominance (Maccoby, 1990; Thompson & Pleck, 1986). Strict adherence to traditional roles may also promote more rigidity and aggression with regard to misbehavior in parent-child interactions, thereby placing individuals with traditional gender ideologies at a greater risk for becoming physically abusive toward their children.

Interestingly, partner effects were observed with regard to maternal abuse risk and fathers' reported gender role attitudes, such that fathers' greater reported traditional ideologies were related to higher abuse risk in mothers. One explanation for this finding is the likely interconnectedness of parenting beliefs between mothers and fathers as demonstrated in previous studies (Guterman et al., 2009), suggesting individual abuse risk is an interactive process within dyads. Furthermore, with regard to gender roles specifically, this observed partner effect may be due to the traditional view of interdependence of men and women in the household with a clear distinction of power

(Gershuny, Bittman, & Brice, 2005; Rogers & Amato, 2000; Zuo, 2004), suggestive of a patriarchal dynamic wherein men provide instrumental support and less emotional support (Rogers & Amato, 2000). If fathers hold more traditional gender role ideologies, they are likely to be less involved in child rearing (Bianchi, Milkie, Sayer, & Robinson, 2000), often placing the primary burden of parenting on mothers. Thus, lack of father involvement in parenting may exacerbate maternal stress levels and contribute to mothers' higher individual abuse risk (Kalil, Ziol-Guest, & Coley, 2005; Miller-Perrin, 2012; Whipple & Webster-Stratton, 1991).

Findings for Fathers

Similar to mothers, fathers' lower income, educational attainment and age was related to higher abuse risk. On abuse risk measures, fathers reported significantly greater abuse risk than mothers on the AAPI only. Mothers and fathers did not significantly differ in their endorsements of risk on the CAPI and future Authoritarian PAQ. This gender difference is relatively consistent with previous literature suggesting mixed findings with regard to maternal and paternal abuse risk. Some past findings identify similarities between mothers and fathers in their endorsements of severe physical discipline (Nobes & Smith, 1997); however, other studies suggest fathers often engage in more severe forms of physical discipline (Stiffman et al., 2002). Furthermore, previous literature is suggestive of greater similarities than differences between maternal and paternal physical discipline practices (Margolin, 1992), which is consistent with findings in the present study, wherein few gender differences were found across variables of interest.

Fathers' reported racial identity did not relate to demographic factors. Fathers were, however, found to endorse significantly more traditional gender role beliefs than mothers. Additionally, for fathers, higher educational attainment, income and age were associated with greater egalitarian gender role ideologies.

Actor-partner multivariate analyses partially supported proposed hypotheses for paternal abuse risk. Both attributions of child intent and acceptability of parent-child aggression did not significantly relate to paternal abuse risk. Greater negative attributions of child intent were expected to relate to greater abuse risk in fathers. Similarly, it was predicted greater acceptability of abuse would relate to higher abuse risk. Literature examining abuse risk in fathers, however, is relatively limited. Furthermore, literature examining cognitive factors such as intent attribution and acceptability of abuse as they relate to paternal parenting is slim. A majority of previous literature has focused on assessing demographic factors as they relate to fathers abuse risk. For example, past literature has identified a relation between younger age (Lee, Guterman, & Lee, 2008), unemployment and income (Wolnfer & Gelles, 1993) as relating to abuse risk in males. To date, studies examining attributions of child intent in expectant parents focuses only on mothers, not fathers. Therefore, the current study addresses a gap in the literature by examining the relation with a paternal sample. A significant relation was not found between paternal attributions of child intent and abuse risk, thereby suggesting potential differences in cognitive risk factors between mothers and fathers. Negative attributions of a child's behavior may not impact fathers' abuse risk as strongly as mothers. Therefore, researchers may need to consider alternative cognitive processes as they uniquely relate to fathers.

Similar to mothers, and as hypothesized, more traditional gender role ideologies related to greater abuse risk in fathers. Additionally, a partner effect was also found for fathers wherein greater maternal traditional gender role ideologies related to higher abuse risk in fathers. Findings support previous literature suggesting synchrony in parenting practices, wherein mothers and fathers endorse similarities with regard to attitudes about parenting and use of harsh physical discipline (Margolin, 1992; Nobes & Smith, 1997). Further, previous research has identified parenting as an interactive process, such that paternal characteristics have been found to relate to maternal abuse risk (Guterman et al., 2009). Current findings support previous literature and extend research by also identifying partner effects for fathers, such that maternal characteristics (i.e. gender role ideologies) were found to relate to paternal abuse risk.

Methodological Findings

Traditionally, child maltreatment literature has relied heavily on self-report methods of assessing constructs. These overt methods of gathering information limits anonymity of responses and is subject to socially desirable responses due to the sensitive nature of the information assessed (Fazio & Olsen, 2003). Therefore, individuals may be more likely to misrepresent information, thus contributing to source bias (Bennet, Sullivan & Lewis, 2006). Sole dependence on self-report measures significantly limits understanding of child maltreatment processes (DeGarmo, Reid, & Knutson, 2006). Contemporary research has slowly begun to incorporate implicit methods of assessment. Through these analog methods of assessment, individuals are not overtly aware of what the task is intended to assess. Thus, individuals are less likely to misrepresent information

(Rodriguez, 2013). To date, few studies have examined implicit and explicit measures of the same construct directly to compare effectiveness and the adjunct effects of incorporating implicit measures of assessment. Therefore, this study attempted to address this concern.

Models were run separately for mothers and fathers. First, a model was created using explicit self-report measures only. Second, a model containing implicit and explicit measures was created. Lastly, a model containing implicit measures alone was examined. For mothers, the model containing explicit self-report measures alone demonstrated the best fit. Models examining implicit measures both with explicit measures and alone demonstrated poor fit. Similarly findings for fathers revealed the best fitting model was one containing explicit measures alone. Implicit measures were found to significantly worsen model fit. Based on the current findings, implicit measures did not significantly contribute to improved model fit relative to explicit measures when examining abuse risk in parents. One possible explanation for this finding may be related to the characteristics of the present sample. Participants in the current study were a community sample of individuals self-motivated to participate in a research study. Therefore, they may be less threatened and more forthcoming thereby less likely to misrepresent information in selfreport measures compared to high risk or substantiated parents. At-risk and substantiated parents may have more motivation to misrepresent sensitive information related to parenting practices. Therefore, these findings should be further examined across risk groups. In addition, abuse risk was only assessed in this investigation with explicit measures and thus explicit predictors may be more likely to relate to explicit dependent variables.

As noted above, to date there are few previous studies comparing implicit and explicit measures of the same construct. Therefore, current findings provide much needed explorations of these comparisons. Although implicit measures in the current study did not significantly improve models, implicit measures did relate to individual abuse risk, thereby underscoring the need for multiple forms of assessment. Inclusion of implicit measures offers a nuanced examination of child abuse risk. Previous research has suggested implicit measures vary in the level of conscious awareness of the construct being assessed (Fazio & Olson, 2002). Analog tasks are intended to unconsciously measure attitudes, which does not necessarily mean the participant is entirely unaware they have these attitudes. Analog measures can be conceptualized on a continuum in which those requiring a low level of conscious processing are more likely to indirectly target true attitudes. However, more explicit analog measures in which a participant may deduce what is being measured is subject to greater misrepresentation of information, and greater correlations with self-report measures of the same construct (Fazio & Olson, 2002). Findings from the current study corroborate past research as results varied based on construct. When examining intercorrelations of measures, attributions of child intent measures were not significantly correlated, whereas, acceptability of abuse measures were significantly related. It is possible the highly implicit nature of the N-IAT involved minimal conscious processing and therefore, yielded a low correlation with self-reported attributions on the Plotkin attribution vignettes. In contrast, the PCAAM may be further along the continuum allowing greater conscious processing, thus correlating with the selfreported definitions of abuse measure. The use of self-report methodology alone continues to remain a major cited limitation in maltreatment literature due to potential

bias in reporting (DeGarmo et al., 2006). By continuing to incorporate implicit, alternative forms of assessment, researchers can obtain a more nuanced understanding of constructs.

Limitations

Although the current findings address a gap in the current literature with regard to cultural and gender differences in abuse risk, there are some limitations to consider. The current study was representative of a diverse sample, examining cultural factors in African American and White parents; however, the study is limited due to the focus on these two groups alone. Future investigations should examine these relations with additional cultural groups in order to further assess nuances with regard to child maltreatment and parenting practices. By continuing to examine cultural protective factors, we can better inform preventative parenting interventions that are sensitive to cultural attitudes and norms. Current observed differences across racial groups with regard to parenting and abuse risk further confirms the need for culturally sensitive practices in intervention. Furthermore, the current study sampled individuals from Birmingham, Alabama alone. Attitudes regarding parenting, gender, and racial identity may be influenced by regional culture. Southern culture is often considered conservative and traditional which may impact ideologies with regard to gender roles and parental responsibilities in the household (Burris 1983; Hurlbert 1989; Mason, Czajka & Arber 1976; Rice & Coates 1995). Furthermore, Birmingham was the southern center of the civil rights movement in the 1960s, a time of heightened racial conflict throughout the nation (Goldfield, 1990). These factors may contribute to parental racial identity and

racial socialization practices in parenting. Therefore, it will be important to examine these cultural factors across regions of the country to assess any potential differences in efforts to promote culturally sensitive parenting.

The present study offered a novel contribution to the literature by examining attitudes in first-time expectant mothers and fathers, whereas a majority of extant literature has focused on substantiated samples. The current findings can be strengthened by assessing these cultural variables of interest across risk groups (i.e. expectant parents, at-risk parents and substantiated parents) to assess potential differences. Additionally, the study design utilized a cross-sectional approach to examine the constructs of interest; however, future research should examine these processes in a longitudinal design. In doing so, findings can be examined beyond simple correlational associations and provide some information on potential causal relations among variables. This design could more directly inform prevention and intervention strategies.

Further, due to subgroup sample sizes, the analyses in the present study required the creation of composite variables of each construct rather than assessing the individual effects of each measure. The current models can be strengthened by increasing sample sizes to allow for more sophisticated analyses. Additionally, some concerns remain regarding the self-report measure used to assess acceptability of abuse. The measure used was a less established measure examining few vignettes of parent-child physically aggression. It will be important for future research to identify additional sound measures assessing this construct to be used in conjunction with implicit analogs.

In order to assess racial identity, the current study employed a measure that can be applicable across racial groups. This approach may have limited cultural sensitivity with

regard to attitudes and practices unique to African American racial identity development and socialization. Therefore, additional research may consider utilizing measures more salient to each culture's norms. For example, alternative results may be found if a measure created for use with African American populations was implemented.

Additionally, given the region of the nation this study was implemented, future research should consider the role of religion as it relates to parenting practices and racial identity formation. Previous literature has identified a significant relation with regard to religious orientation and abuse risk (Rodriguez & Henderson, 2007). It will be important to examine this factor as a potential covariate when examining parenting practices in the South

Clinical and Experimental Implications

The present study identified a significant relation between attributions of children's negative intent and abuse risk for mothers and across both White and African American parents. This finding supported previous research and emphasized the importance of examining cognitive processes in the SIP model, suggesting attributions of a child's behavior may inform decision-making during disciplinary encounters. Findings from the current study support the continued need to examine attributions and cognitive processes as they relate to abuse risk in future research studies and demonstrate the need to focus intervention strategies that address this construct. By identifying these relations prior to the birth of the child, we can implement preventative educational interventions that may encourage parents to think of alternative interpretations and potentially offset and reduce abuse risk in parents. Evidence from intervention efforts suggests that

providing supplemental education focused on increasing alternative parenting practices is associated with reduced abuse potential, and more positive parenting attitudes (Bavolek & Hodnett, 2012; Palusci, Crum, Bliss, & Bavolek, 2008). For example, preventative parenting interventions may consider implementing psychoeducation about normative child transgressions and encourage discussion of child intentionality as it relates to misbehavior.

Conversely, a relation was not found between acceptability of parent-child aggression and abuse risk. This finding emphasizes the need for more creative assessment strategies to assess this construct. There are few well-established measures, and limited self-report assessments of this construct. Future research can benefit from identifying alternative methods of assessment and continuing to examine this factor as it relates to child maltreatment and use of harsh physical discipline strategies.

With regard to racial differences, interestingly, racial identity was found to significantly relate to abuse risk in White parents but not in African American parents. Findings demonstrate the need to examine cultural and racial variables in White populations. Traditionally, racial identity has been largely overlooked in White populations, as they are often considered the normative comparison group who is unaware of their racial identity. However, present findings suggest differently and demonstrate that stronger racial identity in White parents may be a risk factor with regard to abuse risk. It will be important to further explore nuances related to this construct, as well as racial socialization practices and differences in White families. Although a significant relation was not found for African American parents, it is important to continue to examine both racial identity and other racial socialization practices

potentially with more applicable measures as they relate to African American parenting in order to inform culturally sensitive interventions to address observed disparities with regard to abuse risk and discipline beliefs.

Overall, findings identify greater similarities than differences between maternal and paternal abuse risk. There were some differences with regard to individual predictors, thus emphasizing the need to examine parental factors dyadically, as fathers may have unique cognitive predictors of abuse risk compared to mothers. Importantly, continued examination of paternal parenting factors contributing to abuse risk is needed due to increased involvement by fathers in child-rearing responsibilities. Additionally, interventions targeting fathers is limited. Of the few, existing programs include the Nurturing Fathers Program derived from the Nurturing Parents Program (Bavolek, 2015) and The Fatherhood Project at Massachusetts General Hospital, which are limited by region or focus heavily on specific populations (i.e. divorced fathers or incarcerated parents). To date, well-established universal father preventions do not exist. By examining risk and protective factors that contribute to fathers' abuse risk and parenting, we can inform intervention and prevention efforts. Furthermore, present findings demonstrate individual abuse risk is an interactive process as individual gender role ideologies were found to significantly relate to partner abuse risk. Future research should therefore examine parenting attitudes within the parenting dyad and consider potential partner effects that may contribute to individual risk. With regard to interventions, partner effects highlight the importance of adopting a family systems approach to intervention efforts by including both parents, rather than solely focusing on mothers as the primary caregiver. Interventions may focus on discussion of supporting partners in their childrearing responsibilities and encouraging joint participation in activities that mitigate stress. Given findings to suggest greater egalitarian gender role ideologies are related to lower abuse risk, interventions may also benefit from providing psychoeducation about distress related to heightened involvement in parenting in order to increase empathic perspective-taking and understanding of how shared parenting responsibilities can mitigate distress.

Lastly, although the current study did not find a significant added benefit of implicit methods of assessments, analog measures demonstrated a significant relation to abuse risk. Further, use of self-report measures alone limits studies as findings are subject to potential reporting bias. By incorporating both implicit and explicit methods of assessment, researchers can examine nuances of child maltreatment risk not otherwise observed with self-report measures alone.

REFERENCES

- Abell, E., Clawson, M., Washington, W. N., Bost, K. K., & Vaughn, B. E. (1996).
 Parenting values, attitudes, behaviors, and goals of African American mothers
 from a low-income population in relation to social and societal contexts. *Journal of Family Issues*, 17(5), 593-613.
- Abney, V. D. (1996). Cultural competency in the field of child maltreatment. In L. B. J. Briere, J. A. Bulkley, C. Jenny, & T. Reid (Eds.), *The APSAC handbook on child maltreatment* (pp. 409-419). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Ammerman, R. T., Kolko, D. J., Kirisci, L., Blackson, T. C., & Dawes, M. A. (1999).

 Child abuse potential in parents with histories of substance use disorder. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *23*(12), 1225-1238.
- Ards, S., Chung, C., & Myers Jr, S. L. (1998). The effects of sample selection bias on racial differences in child abuse reporting. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 22(2), 103-115.
- Ateah, C. A., & Durrant, J. E. (2005). Maternal use of physical punishment in response to child misbehavior: implications for child abuse prevention. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 29(2), 169-185.
- Baumrind, D. (1971). Current patterns of parental authority. *Developmental Psychology Monographs*, 4(1, Pt. 2), 1–103.
- Bavolek, S. J. (2015). Learning Goals. *Evidence-based Parenting Education: A Global Perspective*, 137.
- Bavolek, S., Hodnett, R., & Rubin, A. (2012). The nurturing parenting programs:

 Preventing and treating child abuse and neglect. *Programs and interventions for maltreated children and families at risk*, 285-293.

- Bavolek, S. J. Keene, R. (2001). Adult-Adolescent Parenting Inventory (AAPI-2):

 Administration and development handbook.
- Behl, L. E., Conyngham, H. A., & May, P. F. (2003). Trends in child maltreatment literature. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *27*(2), 215-229.
- Belgrave, F.Z. & Allison, K.W. (2010). *African American psychology; From Africa to America*. (2nd edition), Thousand Oaks, CA.: Sage Publications.
- Belsky, J. (1993). Etiology of child maltreatment: A developmental ecological analysis. *Psychological Bulletin*, *114*(3), 413.
- Belsky, J., & Pensky, E. (1988). Marital change across the transition to parenthood. *Marriage & Family Review*, 12(3-4), 133-156.
- Bennett, D. S., Sullivan, M. W., & Lewis, M. (2006). Relations of parental report and observation of parenting to maltreatment history. *Child Maltreatment*, 11(1), 63-75.
- Berlin, L. J., Dodge, K. A., & Reznick, J. S. (2013). Examining pregnant women's hostile attributions about infants as a predictor of offspring maltreatment. *JAMA Pediatrics*, *167*(6), 549-553.
- Bianchi, S. M., Milkie, M. A., Sayer, L. C., & Robinson, J. P. (2000). Is anyone doing the housework? Trends in the gender division of household labor. *Social Forces*, 79(1), 191-228.
- Black, D. A., Smith Slep, A. M., & Heyman, R. E. (2001). Risk factors for child psychological abuse. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, *6*(2), 189-201.
- Bluestone, C., & Tamis-LeMonda, C. S. (1999). Correlates of parenting styles in predominantly working- and middle-class African American mothers. *Journal of*

- Marriage and the Family, 881-893.
- Bower-Russa, M. (2005). Attitudes mediate the association between childhood disciplinary history and disciplinary responses. *Child Maltreatment*, 10(3), 272-282.
- Bradley, C. R. (1998). Child rearing in African American families: A study of the disciplinary practices of African American parents. *Journal of Multicultural Counseling and Development*, 26(4), 273-281.
- Brekhus, W. (1998). A sociology of the unmarked: Redirecting our focus. *Sociological Theory*, 16(1), 34-51.
- Brewster, K. L., & Padavic, I. (2000). Change in gender ideology, 1977–1996: The contributions of intracohort change and population turnover. *Journal of Marriage* and Family, 62(2), 477-487.
- Brewster, A. L., Nelson, J. P., Hymel, K. P., Colby, D. R., Lucas, D. R., McCanne, T. R., & Milner, J. S. (1998). Victim, perpetrator, family, and incident characteristics of 32 infant maltreatment deaths in the United States Air Force. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 22(2), 91-101.
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1994). Ecological models of human development. *Readings on the development of children*, 2, 37-43.
- Brooks, C., & Bolzendahl, C. (2004). The transformation of US gender role attitudes:

 Cohort replacement, social-structural change, and ideological learning. *Social Science Research*, 33(1), 106-133.
- Brown, D. L. (2008). African American resiliency: Examining racial socialization and social support as protective factors. *Journal of Black Psychology*, *34*(1), 32-48.

- Brown, T. N., & Lesane-Brown, C. L. (2006). Race socialization messages across historical time. *Social Psychology Quarterly*, 69(2), 201-213.
- Bryant, A. N. (2003). Changes in attitudes toward women's roles: Predicting gender-role traditionalism among college students. *Sex Roles*, 48(3-4), 131-142.
- Bryk, A. S., & Raudenbush, S. W. (1992). Hierarchical linear models: Applications and data analysis. *Methods*. Newbury Park, CA: *Sage*.
- Buchanan, T., & Selmon, N. (2008). Race and gender differences in self-efficacy:

 Assessing the role of gender role attitudes and family background. *Sex Roles*, 58(11-12), 822-836.
- Bugental, D. B., & Happaney, K. (2004). Predicting infant maltreatment in low-income families: the interactive effects of maternal attributions and child status at birth. *Developmental Psychology*, 40(2), 234.
- Burchinal, M., Skinner, D., & Reznick, J. S. (2010). European American and African American mothers' beliefs about parenting and disciplining infants: A mixed-method analysis. *Parenting: Science and Practice*, 10(2), 79-96.
- Burchinal, M., Skinner, D., & Reznick, J. S. (2010). European American and African American mothers' beliefs about parenting and disciplining infants: A mixed-method analysis. *Parenting: Science and Practice*, 10(2), 79-96.
- Burris, B. H. (1983). The human effects of underemployment. Social Problems, 96-110.
- Cabrera, N., Tamis-LeMonda, C. S., Bradley, R. H., Hofferth, S., & Lamb, M. E. (2000). Fatherhood in the twenty-first century. *Child Development*, 71(1), 127-136.
- Caughy, M. O., & Franzini, L. (2005). Neighborhood correlates of cultural differences in perceived effectiveness of parental disciplinary tactics. *Parenting: Science &*

- *Practice*, 5, 119–151.
- Caughy, M. O., O'Campo, P. J., Randolph, S. M., & Nickerson, K. (2002). The influence of racial socialization practices on the cognitive and behavioral competence of African American preschoolers. *Child Development*, 73(5), 1611-1625.
- Cazenave, N. A., & Straus, M. A. (1979). Race, class, network embeddedness and family violence: a search for potent support systems. *Journal of Comparative Family Studies*, 10(3).
- Charlow, A. (2001-2002). Race, poverty, and neglect. *William Mitchell Law Review,* 28, 763-790.
- Clark, M. L. (1991). Social Identity Peer Relations, and Academic Competence of African-American Adolescents. *Education and Urban Society*, 24(1), 41-52.
- Cohen, J. A., Deblinger, E., Mannarino, A. P., & de Arellano, M. A. (2001). The importance of culture in treating abused and neglected children: An empirical review. *Child Maltreatment*, 6(2), 148-157.
- Connelly, C. D., & Straus, M. A. (1992). Mother's age and risk for physical abuse. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *16*(5), 709-718.
- Conners, N. A., Whiteside-Mansell, L., Deere, D., Ledet, T., & Edwards, M. C. (2006).

 Measuring the potential for child maltreatment: The reliability and validity of the Adult Adolescent Parenting Inventory—2. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *30*(1), 39-53.
- Cook, W. L., & Kenny, D. A. (2005). The actor–partner interdependence model: A model of bidirectional effects in developmental studies. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 29(2), 101-109.
- Coulton, C. J., Korbin, J. E., & Su, M. (1999). Neighborhoods and child maltreatment: A

- multi-level study. Child Abuse & Neglect, 23(11), 1019-1040.
- Crocker, J., Luhtanen, R., Broadnax, S., & Blaine, B. E. (1999). Belief in US government conspiracies against blacks among black and white college students:

 Powerlessness or system blame?. *Personality and Social Psychology*Bulletin, 25(8), 941-953.
- Crohan, S. E. (1996). Marital quality and conflict across the transition to parenthood in African American and White couples. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*.
- Crompton, R., & Lyonette, C. (2005). The new gender essentialism–domestic and family 'choices' and their relation to attitudes1. *The British Journal of Sociology*, *56*(4), 601-620.
- Dadds, M. R., Mullins, M. J., McAllister, R. A., & Atkinson, E. (2003). Attributions, affect, and behavior in abuse-risk mothers: A laboratory study. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 27(1), 21-45.
- Deater-Deckard, K., Dodge, K. A., Bates, J. E., & Pettit, G. S. (1996). Physical discipline among African American and European American mothers: Links to children's externalizing behaviors. *Developmental Psychology*, 32(6), 1065.
- Dette-Hagenmeyer, D. E., Erzinger, A. B., & Reichle, B. (2014). The changing role of the father in the family. *European Journal of Developmental Psychology*, 11(2), 129-135.
- DeCastro, B. O., Veerman, J. W., Koops, W., Bosch, J. D., & Monshouwer, H. J. (2002).

 Hostile attribution of intent and aggressive behavior: A meta-analysis. *Child Development*, 73(3), 916-934.
- DeGarmo, D. S., Reid, J. B., & Knutson, J. F. (2006). Direct laboratory observations and

- analog measures in research definitions of child maltreatment. *Child abuse and neglect: Definitions, classifications, and a framework for research*, 293-328.
- Delgado, R., & Stefancic, J. (1997). *Critical white studies: Looking behind the mirror*.

 Temple University Press.
- Demo, D. H., & Hughes, M. (1990). Socialization and racial identity among Black Americans. *Social Psychology Quarterly*, *53*(4), 364-374.
- Deutsch, F. M. (2001). Equally shared parenting. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 10(1), 25-28.
- Drake, B., & Jonson-Reid, M. (2013). NIS interpretations: Race and the national incidence studies of child abuse and neglect. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 33(1), 16-20.
- Dubowitz, H. (2006). Where's Dad? A need to understand father's role in child maltreatment. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *30*(5), 461-465.
- Duster. T. 2001. "The 'Morphing' Properties of Whiteness." Pp. 113-137 in *The Making and Unmaking of Whiteness*. edited by B. B. Rasmussen, E. Klinenberg, I. J. Nexica, and M. Wray. Durham, NC: Duke University Press.
- Eagly, A. H., & Wood, W. (1999). The origins of sex differences in human behavior: Evolved dispositions versus social roles. *American Psychologist*, *54*(6), 408.
- English, D. J., Marshall, D. B., Coghlan, L., Brummel, S., & Orme, M. (2002). Causes and consequences of the substantiation decision in Washington State Child Protective Services. *Children and Youth Services Review*, *24*(11), 817-851.
- Fagot, B. I. (1992). Assessment of coercive parent discipline. *Behavioral Assessment*, 14, 387-406.

- Farc, M. M., Crouch, J. L., Skowronski, J. J., & Milner, J. S. (2008). Hostility ratings by parents at risk for child abuse: Impact of chronic and temporary schema activation. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *32*(2), 177-193.
- Fazio, R. H., & Olson, M. A. (2003). Implicit measures in social cognition research:

 Their meaning and use. *Annual Review of Psychology*, *54*(1), 297-327.
- Ferrari, A. M. (2002). The impact of culture upon child rearing practices and definitions of maltreatment. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *26*(8), 793-813.
- Fite, P. J., Stoppelbein, L., & Greening, L. (2009). Proactive and reactive aggression in a child psychiatric inpatient population. *Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology*, 38(2), 199-205.
- Fletcher, A. C., Walls, J. K., Cook, E. C., Madison, K. J., & Bridges, T. H. (2008).

 Parenting style as a moderator of associations between maternal disciplinary strategies and child well-being. *Journal of Family Issues*, 29(12), 1724-1744.
- Florsheim, P., Sumida, E., McCann, C., Winstanley, M., Fukui, R., Seefeldt, T., & Moore, D. (2003). The transition to parenthood among young African American and Latino couples: Relational predictors of risk for parental dysfunction. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 17(1), 65.
- Fontes, L. A. (2005). *Child abuse and culture: Working with diverse families*. New York: Guilford Press.
- Frabutt, J. M., Walker, A. M., & MacKinnon-Lewis, C. (2002). Racial socialization messages and the quality of mother/child interactions in African American families. *The Journal of Early Adolescence*, 22(2), 200-217.
- Franklin, A. J., Boyd-Franklin, N., & Draper, C. V. (2002). A psychological and

- educational perspective on Black parenting. In H. P. McAdoo (Ed.), *Black children: Social, educational, and parental environments*, (2nd ed., pp. 119–140). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Garbarino, J., & Kostelny, K. (1992). Child maltreatment as a community problem. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *16*(4), 455-464.
- Gelles, R. J., & Straus, M. A. (1988). Intimate violence. New York: Simon & Schuster.
- Gershoff, E. T. (2002). Corporal punishment by parents and associated child behaviors and experiences: a meta-analytic and theoretical review. *Psychological Bulletin*, *128*(4), 539.
- Gershuny, J., Bittman, M., & Brice, J. (2005). Exit, voice, and suffering: Do couples adapt to changing employment patterns?. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 67(3), 656-665.
- Giovannoni, J. M., & Becerra, R. M. (1979). *Defining child abuse* (p. 260). New York: Free Press.
- Goldfield, D. R. (1990). *Black, white, and southern: Race relations and southern culture,*1940 to the present. LSU Press.
- Graziano, A. M. (1994). Why we should study subabusive violence against children. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 9(3), 412-419.
- Graziano, A. M., & Namaste, K. A. (1990). Parental Use of Physical Force in Child Discipline A Survey of 679 College Students. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, *5*(4), 449-463.
- Greenwald, A. G., McGhee, D. E., & Schwartz, J. L. (1998). Measuring individual differences in implicit cognition: the implicit association test. *Journal of*

- Personality and Social Psychology, 74(6), 1464.
- Grolnick, W. S. (2013). *The psychology of parental control: How well-meant parenting backfires*. Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Grolnick, W. S., & Ryan, R. M. (1989). Parent styles associated with children's self-regulation and competence in school. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 81(2), 143.
- Grossman, J. M., & Charmaraman, L. (2009). Race, context, and privilege: White adolescents' explanations of racial-ethnic centrality. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 38(2), 139-152.
- Gunnoe, M. L., & Mariner, C. L. (1997). Toward a developmental-contextual model of the effects of parental spanking on children's aggression. *Archives of Pediatrics & Adolescent Medicine*, *151*(8), 768.
- Guterman, N. B., Lee, S. J., Taylor, C. A., & Rathouz, P. J. (2009). Parental perceptions of neighborhood processes, stress, personal control, and risk for physical child abuse and neglect. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *33*(12), 897-906.
- Guterman, N. B., & Lee, Y. (2005). The role of fathers in risk for physical child abuse and neglect: Possible pathways and unanswered questions. *Child Maltreatment*, 10(2), 136-149.
- Haskett, M. E., Scott, S. S., & Fann, K. D. (1995). Child Abuse Potential Inventory and parenting behavior: Relationships with high-risk correlates. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *19*(12), 1483-1495.
- Haskett, M. E., Scott, S. S., Willoughby, M., Ahern, L., & Nears, K. (2006). The parent

- opinion questionnaire and child vignettes for use with abusive parents:

 Assessment of psychometric properties. *Journal of Family Violence*, 21(2), 137-151.
- Helms, J. E. (1993). I also said, "White racial identity influences White researchers." *The Counseling Psychologist*, *21*, 240–243.
- Herrenkohl, R. C., Herrenkohl, E. C., & Egolf, B. P. (1983). Circumstances surrounding the occurrence of child maltreatment. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, *51*(3), 424.
- Hofferth, S. L. (2003). Race/Ethnic Differences in Father Involvement in Two-Parent Families Culture, Context, or Economy?. *Journal of Family Issues*, *24*(2), 185-216.
- Hood, K., Brevard, J., Nguyen, A. B., & Belgrave, F. (2013). Stress Among African

 American Emerging Adults: The Role of Family and Cultural Factors. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 22(1), 76-84.
- Hughes, D., & Chen, L. (1997). When and what parents tell children about race: An examination of race-related socialization among African American families.

 Applied Developmental Science, 1(4), 200-214.
- Hurlbert, J. S. (1989). THE SOUTHERN REGION. *The Sociological Quarterly*, *30*(2), 245-266.
- Jackson-Newsom, J., Buchanan, C. M., & McDonald, R. M. (2008). Parenting and perceived maternal warmth in European American and African American adolescents. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 70(1), 62-75.
- Jambunathan, S., Burts, D. C., & Pierce, S. (2000). Comparisons of parenting attitudes

- among five ethnic groups in the United States. *Journal of Comparative Family Studies*, *31*, 395-406.
- Kalil, A., Ziol-Guest, K. M., & Coley, R. L. (2005). Perceptions of father involvement patterns in teenage mother families: Predictors and links to mothers' psychological adjustment. *Family Relations*, *54*(2), 197-211.
- Kane, E. W. (2000). Racial and ethnic variations in gender-related attitudes. *Annual Review of Sociology*, *26*, 419-439.
- Kashy, D. A., Kenny, D. A., Reis, H. T., & Judd, C. M. (2000). The analysis of data from dyads and groups. *Handbook of research methods in social and personality psychology*, *38*, 451-477.
- Katz-Wise, S. L., Priess, H. A., & Hyde, J. S. (2010). Gender-role attitudes and behavior across the transition to parenthood. *Developmental psychology*, *46*(1), 18.
- Kelley, S. J. (1992). Parenting stress and child maltreatment in drug-exposed children. *Child abuse & neglect*, *16*(3), 317-328.
- King, L. A., & King, D. W. (1997). Sex-Role Egalitarianism Scale: Development, psychometric properties and recommendations for future research. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, *21*, 71–87.
- Kingsbury, M. K., & Coplan, R. J. (2012). Mothers' gender-role attitudes and their responses to young children's hypothetical display of shy and aggressive behaviors. *Sex roles*, 66(7-8), 506-517.
- Kotch, J. B., Browne, D. C., Dufort, V., Winsor, J., & Catellier, D. (1999). Predicting child maltreatment in the first 4 years of life from characteristics assessed in the neonatal period. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *23*(4), 305-319.

- Korbin, J. E. (2002). Culture and child maltreatment: Cultural competence and beyond. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *26*(6), 637-644.
- Korbin, J. (1994). Sociocultural factors in child maltreatment. *Protecting children from abuse and neglect: Foundations for a new national strategy*, New York: Guilford.
- Krieger, N., Williams, D. R., & Moss, N. E. (1997). Measuring social class in US public health research: concepts, methodologies, and guidelines. *Annual review of public health*, *18*(1), 341-378.
- Landry, S. H., Smith, K. E., & Swank, P. R. (2006). Responsive parenting: establishing early foundations for social, communication, and independent problem-solving skills. *Developmental Psychology*, 42(4), 627.
- Lansford, J. E., Deater-Deckard, K., Dodge, K. A., Bates, J. E., & Pettit, G. S. (2004).

 Ethnic differences in the link between physical discipline and later adolescent externalizing behaviors. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 45(4), 801-812.
- Larzelere, R. E., & Kuhn, B. R. (2005). Comparing child outcomes of physical punishment and alternative disciplinary tactics: A meta-analysis. *Clinical Child and Family Psychology Review*, 8(1), 1-37.
- Lee, B. J., & Goerge, R. M. (1999). Poverty, early childbearing, and child maltreatment:

 A multinomial analysis. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 21(9), 755-780.
- Lee, S. J., Guterman, N. B., & Lee, Y. (2008). Risk factors for paternal physical child abuse. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *32*(9), 846-858.
- Lee, S. J., Perron, B. E., Taylor, C. A., & Guterman, N. B. (2011). Paternal psychosocial characteristics and corporal punishment of their 3-year-old children. *Journal of*

- *Interpersonal Violence*, 26(1), 71-87.
- Leonardo, Z. (2002). The souls of white folk: Critical pedagogy, whiteness studies, and globalization discourse. *Race, ethnicity and education, 5*(1), 29-50.
- Leung, D. W., & Slep, A. M. S. (2006). Predicting inept discipline: The role of parental depressive symptoms, anger, and attributions. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 74(3), 524.
- Lipsitz, G. (2005). The possessive investment in whiteness. *White privilege: Essential readings on the other side of racism*, *2*, 67-90.
- Maccoby, E. E. (1998). *The two sexes: Growing up apart, coming together*. Cambridge, MA: Belknap Press.
- Margolin, L. (1992). Child abuse by mothers' boyfriends: Why the overrepresentation? *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *16*(4), 541-551.
- Martin, A., Ryan, R. M., & Brooks-Gunn, J. (2007). The joint influence of mother and father parenting on child cognitive outcomes at age 5. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 22(4), 423-439.
- Mash, E. J., & Wolfe, D. A. (1991). Methodological issues in research on physical child abuse. *Criminal justice and behavior*, *18*(1), 8-29.
- Mason, K. O., Czajka, J. L., & Arber, S. (1976). Change in US women's sex-role attitudes, 1964-1974. *American Sociological Review*, 41, 573-596.
- Medora, N. P., Wilson, S., & Larson, J. H. (2001). Attitudes toward parenting strategies, potential for child abuse, and parental satisfaction of ethnically diverse low-income US mothers. *The Journal of Social Psychology*, *141*(3), 335-348.
- Miller-Perrin, C. L., & Perrin, R. D. (2012). Child Maltreatment: An Introduction: An

- Introduction. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Milner, J. S. (1986). *The Child Abuse Potential Inventory manual* (2nd ed.). DeKalb, IL: Psyctec.
- Milner, J. S., Gold, R. G., & Wimberley, R. C. (1986). Prediction and explanation of child abuse: Cross-validation of the Child Abuse Potential Inventory. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, *54*(6), 865.
- Milner, J. S. (1993). Social information processing and physical child abuse. *Clinical Psychology Review*, *13*(3), 275-294.
- Milner, J. S. (1994). Assessing physical child abuse risk: The child abuse potential inventory. *Clinical Psychology Review*, *14*(6), 547-583.
- Milner, J. S. (2000). Social Information Processing and Child Physical Abuse: Theory and Research Joel S. Milner. *Motivation and Child Maltreatment*, 46, 39.
- Mulvaney, M. K., & Mebert, C. J. (2007). Parental corporal punishment predicts behavior problems in early childhood. *Journal of Family Psychology*, *21*(3), 389.
- Muthén, L. K., & Muthén, B. O. (1998-2011). *Mplus User's Guide*. Sixth Edition. Los Angeles, CA: Muthén & Muthén.
- National Research Council (US). Panel on Research on Child Abuse, & Neglect. (1993).

 Understanding child abuse and neglect. Washington: National Academies Press.
- Nobes, G., Smith, M., Upton, P., & Heverin, A. (1999). Physical punishment by mothers and fathers in British homes. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, *14*(8), 887-902.
- Nobes, G., & Smith, M. (1997). Physical punishment of children in two-parent families. *Clinical Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, *2*(2), 271-281.
- Nosek, B. A., Greenwald, A. G., & Banaji, M. R. (2007). The Implicit Association Test

- at age 7: A methodological and conceptual review. In J. A. Bargh (Ed.),

 Automatic processes in social thinking and behavior (pp. 265–292). New York:

 Psychology Press.
- Ogbu J. A cultural ecology of competence among inner-city Blacks. In: Spencer M,

 Brookins G, Allen W, editors. *Beginnings: The social and affective development*of Black children. Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum; 1985. pp. 45–66.
- Ogbu, J. U. (1981). Origins of human competence: A cultural-ecological perspective. *Child Development*, *51*, 413-429.
- Palusci, V. J., Crum, P., Bliss, R., & Bavolek, S. J. (2008). Changes in parenting attitudes and knowledge among inmates and other at-risk populations after a family nurturing program. *Children and Youth Services Review*, *30*(1), 79-89.
- Paquette, D., Bolté, C., Turcotte, G., Dubeau, D., & Bouchard, C. (2000). A new typology of fathering: Defining and associated variables. *Infant and Child Development*, *9*(4), 213-230.
- Park, H. S., & Bauer, S. (2002). Parenting practices, ethnicity, socioeconomic status and academic achievement in adolescents. *School Psychology International*, 23(4), 386-396.
- Passman, R. H., & Mulhern, R. K. (1977). Maternal punitiveness as affected by situational stress: An experimental analogue of child abuse. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 86(5), 565.
- Pears, K. C., & Capaldi, D. M. (2001). Intergenerational transmission of abuse: a two-generational prospective study of an at-risk sample. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 25(11), 1439-1461.

- Peters, M. F. (1985). Racial socialization of young Black children. *Black children:*Social, educational, and parental environments, Beverly Hills: Saige.
- Phinney, J. (1992). The Multigroup Ethnic Identity Measure: A new scale for use with diverse groups. *Journal of Adolescent Research*, 7, 156–176.
- Phinney, J. S. (1996). Understanding ethnic diversity the role of ethnic identity. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 40(2), 143-152.
- Phinney, J. S., Romero, I., Nava, M., & Huang, D. (2001). The role of language, parents, and peers in ethnic identity among adolescents in immigrant families. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, *30*, 135–157.
- Phinney, J. S., & Flores, J. (2002). "Unpack aging" Acculturation Aspects of Acculturation as Predictors of Traditional Sex Role Attitudes. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 33(3), 320-331.
- Pinderhughes, E. E., Dodge, K. A., Bates, J. E., Pettit, G. S., & Zelli, A. (2000).

 Discipline responses: influences of parents' socioeconomic status, ethnicity, beliefs about parenting, stress, and cognitive-emotional processes. *Journal of Family Psychology*, *14*(3), 380.
- Pleck, J. H., Masciadrelli, B. P., & Lamb, M. E. (2004). Paternal involvement by US residential fathers. *The role of the father in child development*, *4*, 222-271.
- Plotkin, R. (1983). Cognitive mediation in disciplinary actions among mothers who have abused or neglected their children: Dispositional and environmental factors.

 Doctoral dissertation, University of Rochester. *Dissertation Abstracts International*, 45-02B, 684.
- Polaha, J., Larzelere, R. E., Shapiro, S. K., & Pettit, G. S. (2004). Physical discipline and

- child behavior problems: A study of ethnic group differences. *Parenting: Science and Practice*, *4*(4), 339-360.
- Raley, S. B., Mattingly, M. J., & Bianchi, S. M. (2006). How Dual Are Dual-Income Couples? Documenting Change From 1970 to 2001. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 68(1), 11-28.
- Reitman, D., Rhode, P. C., Hupp, S. D., & Altobello, C. (2002). Development and validation of the parental authority questionnaire–revised. *Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment*, 24(2), 119-127.
- Rice, T. W., & Coates, D. L. (1995). Gender role attitudes in the southern United States. *Gender & Society*, *9*(6), 744-756.
- Risman, B. J., & Johnson-Sumerford, D. (1998). Doing it fairly: A study of postgender marriages. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 23-40.
- Roberts, P. (2002). Double Jeopardy Law Reform: A Criminal Justice Commentary. *The Modern Law Review*, 65(3), 393-424.
- Robinson, C. C., Mandleco, B., Olsen, S. F., & Hart, C. H. (2001). The parenting styles and dimensions questionnaire (PSDQ). *Handbook of family measurement techniques*, *3*, 319-321.
- Rodriguez, C. M., Russa, M. B., & Kircher, J. C. (2015). Analog assessment of frustration tolerance: Association with self-reported child abuse risk and physiological reactivity. *Child abuse & neglect*, 46, 121-131.
- Rodriguez, C. M. (2013). Analog of parental empathy: Association with physical child abuse risk and punishment intentions. *Child abuse & neglect*, *37*(8), 493-499.
- Rodriguez, C. M., Cook, A. E., & Jedrziewski, C. T. (2012). Reading between the lines:

- Implicit assessment of the association of parental attributions and empathy with abuse risk. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *36*(7), 564-571.
- Rodriguez, C. M., Russa, M. B., & Harmon, N. (2011). Assessing abuse risk beyond self-report: Analog task of acceptability of parent-child aggression. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 35(3), 199-209.
- Rodriguez, C. M. (2010). Parent–child aggression: Association with child abuse potential and parenting styles. *Violence and Victims*, *25*(6), 728-741.
- Rodriguez, C. M., & Henderson, R. C. (2010). Who spares the rod? Religious orientation, social conformity, and child abuse potential. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *34*(2), 84-94.
- Rodriguez, C. M., & Richardson, M. J. (2007). Stress and anger as contextual factors and preexisting cognitive schemas: Predicting parental child maltreatment risk. *Child Maltreatment*, *12*(4), 325-337.
- Rogers, S. J., & Amato, P. R. (2000). Have changes in gender relations affected marital quality?. *Social Forces*, 79(2), 731-753.
- Rotherman, M. J., & Phinney, J. S. (1987). Introduction: Definitions and perspectives in the study of children's ethnic socialization. In J.S. Phinney & M. J. Rotherman (Eds.), *Children's ethnic socialization: Pluralism and development* (pp. 10–28). Beverly Hills, CA: Sage.
- Runyon, M. K., Deblinger, E., Ryan, E. E., & Thakkar-Kolar, R. (2004). An overview of child physical abuse developing an integrated parent-child cognitive-behavioral treatment approach. *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse, 5*(1), 65-85.
- Russa, M. B., Rodriguez, C. M., & Silvia, P. J. (2014). Frustration influences impact of history and disciplinary attitudes on physical discipline decision

- making. *Aggressive Behavior*, 40(1), 1-11.
- Russell, A., Hart, C., Robinson, C., & Olsen, S. (2003). Children's sociable and aggressive behavior with peers: A comparison of the US and Australia, and contributions of temperament and parenting styles. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 27(1), 74-86.
- Sabattini, L., & Leaper, C. (2004). The relation between mothers' and fathers' parenting styles and their division of labor in the home: Young adults' retrospective reports. *Sex roles*, *50*(3-4), 217-225.
- Schaeffer, C. M., Alexander, P. C., Bethke, K., & Kretz, L. S. (2005). Predictors of child abuse potential among military parents: Comparing mothers and fathers. *Journal of Family Violence*, 20(2), 123-129.
- Sedlak, A. J., Mettenburg, J., Basena, M., Peta, I., McPherson, K., & Greene, A. (2010). Fourth national incidence study of child abuse and neglect (NIS-4). *Washington, DC: US Department of Health and Human Services. Retrieved on July, 9*, 2010.
- Sellers, R. M., Copeland-Linder, N., Martin, P. P., & Lewis, R. H. (2006). Racial identity matters: The relationship between racial discrimination and psychological functioning in African American adolescents. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, *16*(2), 187-216.
- Shamir, H., Schudlich, T. D. R., & Cummings, E. M. (2001). Marital conflict, parenting styles, and children's representations of family relationships. *Parenting*, *1*(1-2), 123-151.
- Shaw, R., & Kilburn, M. R. (2009). Child Abuse and Neglect Prevention.
- Shanalingigwa, O. A. (2009). Understanding Social and Cultural Differences in

- Perceiving Child Maltreatment. Doctoral dissertation, University of Minnesota.

 Dissertation Abstracts International.
- Shonkoff, J. P., & Phillips, D. A. (Eds.). (2000). From neurons to neighborhoods: The science of early childhood development. National Academies Press.
- Sidebotham, P. (2001). An ecological approach to child abuse: A creative use of scientific models in research and practice. *Child Abuse Review*, *10*(2), 97-112.
- Simons, L. G., & Conger, R. D. (2007). Linking mother–father differences in parenting to a typology of family parenting styles and adolescent outcomes. *Journal of Family Issues*, 28(2), 212-241.
- Steil, J. M. I. (1997). *Marital equality: Its relationship to the well-being of husbands and wives*. Sage Publications, Inc.
- Steinberg, L., Blatt-Eisengart, I., & Cauffman, E. (2006). Patterns of competence and adjustment among adolescents from authoritative, authoritarian, indulgent, and neglectful homes: A replication in a sample of serious juvenile offenders. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 16(1), 47-58.
- Stiffman, M. N., Schnitzer, P. G., Adam, P., Kruse, R. L., & Ewigman, B. G. (2002).

 Household composition and risk of fatal child maltreatment. *Pediatrics*, *109*(4), 615-621.
- Stith, S. M., Liu, T., Davies, L. C., Boykin, E. L., Alder, M. C., Harris, J. M., & Dees, J.
 E. M. E. G. (2009). Risk factors in child maltreatment: A meta-analytic review of the literature. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, 14(1), 13-29.
- Straus, M. A., & Stewart, J. H. (1999). Corporal punishment by American parents:

- National data on prevalence, chronicity, severity, and duration, in relation to child and family characteristics. *Clinical Child and Family Psychology Review*, *2*(2), 55-70.
- Straus, M. A. (2000). Corporal punishment and primary prevention of physical abuse. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 24(9), 1109-1114.
- Straus, M. A., Hamby, S. L., Finkelhor, D., Moore, D. W., & Runyan, D. (1998).

 Identification of child maltreatment with the Parent-Child Conflict Tactics Scales:

 Development and psychometric data for a national sample of American

 parents. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 22(4), 249-270.
- Taylor, R. D., & Roberts, D. (1995). Kinship Support and Maternal and Adolescent WellBeing in Economically Disadvantaged African-American Families. *Child*Development, 66(6), 1585-1597.
- Thomas, A. J. (2000). Impact of racial identity on African American child-rearing beliefs. *Journal of Black Psychology*, 26(3), 317-329.
- Thompson, E. H., & Pleck, J. H. (1986). The structure of male role norms. *The American Behavioral Scientist*, 29(5), 531.
- Thornton, M. C. (1997). Strategies of racial socialization among Black parents:
 Mainstream, minority, and cultural messages. In R. J. Taylor, J. S. Jackson, & L.
 M. Chatters (Eds.), *Family life in Black America* (pp. 201–215). Thousand Oaks,
 CA: Sage.
- Thornton, M. C., Chatters, L. M., Taylor, R. J., & Allen, W. R. (1990).

 Sociodemographic and environmental correlates of racial socialization by Black parents. *Child Development*, *61*, 401–409.

- Thornton, A. (1989). Changing attitudes toward family issues in the United States. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 39, 873-893.
- Trickett, P. K., & Susman, E. J. (1988). Parental perceptions of child-rearing practices in physically abusive and nonabusive families. *Developmental Psychology*, 24(2), 270.
- Twenge, J. M., Campbell, W. K., & Foster, C. A. (2003). Parenthood and marital satisfaction: A meta-analytic review. *Journal of Marriage and Family*,65(3), 574-583.
- Twine, F. W., & Gallagher, C. (2008). The future of whiteness: A map of the 'third wave'. *Ethnic and racial studies*, 31(1), 4-24.
- Umana-Taylor, A. J., & Guimond, A. B. (2012). A longitudinal examination of parenting behaviors and perceived discrimination predicting Latino adolescents' ethnic identity. *Developmental Psychology*, 46, 636 650.
- United States Department of Health and Human Services. (2016). *National Child Abuse*and Neglect Data System: Summary of Key Findings for Calendar Year 2014.

 Washington, DC: Government Printing Office.
- Valentino, K., Nuttall, A. K., Comas, M., Borkowski, J. G., & Akai, C. E. (2012).
 Intergenerational Continuity of Child Abuse Among Adolescent Mothers
 Authoritarian Parenting, Community Violence, and Race. *Child Maltreatment*,
 17(2), 172-181.
- Vaux, A., & Harrison, D. (1985). Support network characteristics associated with support satisfaction and perceived support. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 13(3), 245-265.

- Veltkamp, L. J., & Miller, T. W. (1994). Clinical handbook of child abuse and neglect.
 Madison, CT: International Universities Press, Inc.
- Ward, J. V. (2000). The skin we're in: Teaching our teens to be emotionally strong, socially smart and spiritually connected. New York: Simon and Schuster.
- Wekerle, C., Wall, A. M., Leung, E., & Trocmé, N. (2007). Cumulative stress and substantiated maltreatment: The importance of caregiver vulnerability and adult partner violence. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *31*(4), 427-443.
- Whipple, E. E., & Richey, C. A. (1997). Crossing the line from physical discipline to child abuse: how much is too much?. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *21*(5), 431-444.
- Whipple, E. E., & Webster-Stratton, C. (1991). The role of parental stress in physically abusive families. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *15*(3), 279-291.
- Whiteside-Mansell, L., Bradley, R. H., & McKelvey, L. (2009). Parenting and preschool child development: Examination of three low-income US cultural groups. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 18(1), 48-60.
- Wilson, S. R., Rack, J. J., Shi, X., & Norris, A. M. (2008). Comparing physically abusive, neglectful, and non-maltreating parents during interactions with their children: A meta-analysis of observational studies. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *32*(9), 897-911.
- Wissow, L. S. (2001). Ethnicity, income, and parenting contexts of physical punishment in a national sample of families with young children. *Child Maltreatment*, *6*(2), 118-129.
- Wolfner, G. D., & Gelles, R. J. (1993). A profile of violence toward children: A national study. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *17*(2), 197-212.

Zuo, J. (2004). Shifting the Breadwinning Boundary The Role of Men's Breadwinner Status and Their Gender Ideologies. *Journal of Family Issues*, *25*(6), 811-832.